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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, and all at Mclean Group, I am please to present to you our 7th Annual 
Report and the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 (“FY16”). 

It has been a year of positive consolidation with MClean returning to profitability for the financial year ended  
31 December 2016.

Key Financial Highlights

MClean achieved a total revenue RM59.3 million as compared to RM57.4 million for the preceding corresponding 
financial year. Revenue from the Surface Treatment & Precision Cleaning (“STPC”) Division has increase due to the 
full year contribution from DWZ group. This increase was partially offset by the absence of revenue from Technical 
Assembly Services (“TAS”), which contributed RM17.6 million in the previous year. The Group achieved a profit 
before tax of RM2.7 million for FY 2016 as compared with a profit before tax of RM3.8 million for FY2015. Excluding  
non-recurring item, the Group profit before tax for FY2016 would be RM1.4 million as compared with an 
operating loss of RM4.0 million for FY2015, a significant turnaround to operating profitability.     

Outlook for 2017

Looking ahead, industrywide demand for traditional Hard Disk Drives (“HDD”) will continue to face pressure 
from Solid State Drives (“SSD”). However, we expect the SSD much higher cost price per gigabyte gap as 
compared with HDD to remain, and the increasing proliferation of data requirements will continue to fuel 
demand for HDD. 

To counter increasing competition, we will expand our reach by setting up a operating hub in Thailand. We will 
be nearer to the centre of action as major HDD manufacturers increase production allocation in Thailand over 
China.  

Meanwhile, we are actively adapting our core strength in Cleanroom services to reach other market segment 
requirements. We shall explore alliances with business partners that shows strong growth potential. I look 
forward to share with you these exciting ventures ahead.    

Appreciation

FY2016 has been an important year for MClean, which mark the return to profitability. On behalf of the Board, 
I would like to convey my deep appreciation and gratitude to my fellow CEO, management team and loyal 
employees for their dedication and perseverance. My appreciation also goes to our valued customers and 
business associates for their continuous support. The Board is optimistic that the year ahead will present 
further opportunities to extend our business while enhancing shareholder value. 

Yeo Hock Huat
Executive Chairman
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Management Discussion & Analysis

Company profile

Our Group is involved in the provision of surface treatment, packaging and sub module assembly services for 
various industries ranging from the Hard Disk Drive industry (“HDD”), Consumer Electronics to the Oil & Gas 
industries. Our Group is an established participant in its market with a track record of more than two decades 
operating in Malaysia, Singapore and China.   

Vision

Our group strives to be the choice service solution provider through continuing innovation so as to deliver 
sustainable shareholder value to all stakeholders. 

Principal activities of our group

-	 Surface treatment services 
	 •	 Precision Cleaning in Cleanroom environment 
	 •	 Surface treatment & finishing of metal parts

-	 Cleanroom packaging, assembly & logistics services
	 •	 Clean bulk packaging services
	 •	 Cleanroom packaging services
	 •	 Assembly services
	 •	 E- Commerce & Logistics services

Johor
Singapore

ChongQing

ShenZhen

Wuxi
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Key Markets

Value creation strategies

•	 Enhance service value via sustainable practices and service excellence
•	 Enhance profitability and operational excellence with continual innovation to differentiate our services from 

competition
•	 Enhance productivity with continual training and development of  core  competence   
•	 Continual prudent incubation of promising business with strong growth potential.

Highlights of our group financial information for the past 5 years (RM’000)

	 2012 	 2013	 2014	 2015	 2016

Revenue	  38,391 	  39,142 	  34,224 	  57,362 	  59,340 

Gross profit	  7,282 	  6,737 	  3,939 	  6,994 	  15,222 

(Loss)/Profit before tax	  (2,487)	  (2,958)	  (5,592)	  3,788 	  2,687 

(Loss)/Profit before tax 	 (2,487)	 (2,958)	 (5,592)	 (3,999)	 1,421
	– excluding non-recurring item 
	relating to the investment in 
DWZ group

Net Asset per share	  0.20 	  0.19 	  0.15 	  0.19 	  0.19 

(Loss)/Profit per share (“LPS”)/	  (2.04)	  (1.66)	  (4.76)	  2.73 	  0.48
“EPS”(sen)	   

Group sales for FY2016 increased by RM1.98 million or 3.5% as compared with FY2015 mainly due to the 
full year contribution from DWZ group. This increase was partially offset by the absence of revenue from TAS, 
which contributed RM17.6 million in the previous year. Our operations in China has also shown improvement. 
Revenue increased by 19% from RM8 million in FY2015 to RM9.5 million in FY2016. Gross profit margin 
increased from 12.2% to 25.7% mainly due to improve cost structure through increase leverage on DWZ 
resources and the absence of lower gross profit margin contributed by TAS.  

Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

2016
Asia-Pacific,

1,073, 2%

Singapore,
39,279, 66%

China, 9,542,
16%

Malaysia,
9,446, 16%

2015
Asia-Pacific,

800, 1%

Singapore,
43,293, 75%

China, 7,790,
14%

Malaysia,
5,479, 10%
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Management Discussion & Analysis (cont’d)

The Group’s other income for the year 
decreased by 74.2% from RM9.3 million 
to RM2.4 million. Other income include 
excess of net fair value over acquisition 
cost of RM7.8million in FY2015. The 
decline in other income consequently 
led to the lower profit before tax for the 
group.

The Group’s distribution cost and 
administration expenses increased 
by approximately 9.6% and 8.8% 
respectively mainly due to inclusive of DWZ group. 

The Group’s profit before tax for FY2016 was RM2.7 million as compared to RM3.8 million for FY2015. 
Excluding non-recurring item relating to the investment in DWZ group, adjusted group’s profit before tax for 
FY2016 was RM1.4 million as compared with an operating loss of RM4.0 million for FY2015, a significant 
turnaround to operating profitability.

The Group’s trade receivables decreased by approximately RM4.6 million or 16.4% to RM23.2 million mainly 
due to absence of TAS business. As at 31 December 2015, TAS business has trade receivables amounting to 
RM4.12 million (FY2016: Nil).

The Group’s cash and bank balances decreased by 41.5% to RM6.6 million as at 31 December 2016 as 
compared to RM11.3 million as at 31 December 2015. The decrease in cash and bank balances was mainly 
due to cash outlays for dividend paid to non-controlling interest amounting to RM1.8 million and purchase of 
property, plant and equipment of RM3.9 million.

The Group’s property, plant and equipment decreased by approximately RM0.8 million, mainly due to the 
depreciation charged for the year under review of approximately RM4.5 million and disposal of certain 
property, plant and equipment, which was partially offset by the purchase of property, plant and equipment of 
approximately RM3.9 million.

The Group’s trade payables decreased by approximately RM9.3 million or 65.6% to RM4.9 million mainly due 
to absence of TAS business. As at 31 December 2015, TAS business has trade payable amounting to RM6.2 
million (FY2016: Nil).

The Groups’ borrowings decreased by 50% to RM2.3 million mainly due to repayment of bank loans during 
the year.

Forward looking statement 

The industries in which the group operates have been challenging. Demand for HDD is expected to face 
pressure from Solid State Drives (“SSD”). In order to maintain our revenue and performance, we are establishing 
two new operations in 2017. 

The board is always on a lookout for new business that can provide the Group with good revenue and profits. 
Within the next few years, the group is expected to expand its services through partnerships and alliances. 
These new initiatives and investments are vital for the group self-renewal to secure future revenue streams.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

MClean Technologies Berhad
(893631-T)

MAGNETRONICS 
TECHNOLOGY 

PTE LTD

100%

MCLEAN 
TECHNOLOGIES 

PTE LTD

100%

MCLEAN 
TECHNOLOGIES 
(WUXI) CO., LTD

100%

DWZ INDUSTRIES 
SDN BHD

55%

Abbreviation Name of Company Principal activities

MClean MClean Technologies Berhad Investment holding 

Magnetronics Magnetronics Technology Pte Ltd Investment holding company and to provide washing, 
assembling and sorting services for electronic components 
and sales of electronic components

MClean Singapore MClean Technologies Pte Ltd Provide precision cleaning, assembly services, and other 
related service to hard disk drive industry and sale of 
module relating to technical assembly services

MClean Wuxi MClean Technologies (Wuxi) Co Ltd Provide precision cleaning and assembly services clean 
bulk packaging services and other related services 

MAC MClean Advance Carrier Pte Ltd Investment holding 

MTM MClean Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd Dormant

DWZ DWZ Industries Sdn Bhd Surface treatment and finishing specialist for electrical 
and electronic industries

DWZ Johor DWZ Industries (Johor) Sdn Bhd Surface treatment and finishing specialist for electrical 
and electronic industries

DWZ INDUSTRIES 
(JOHOR) 
SDN BHD

100%

MCLEAN 
TECHNOLOGIES (M) 

SDN  BHD

100%

MCLEAN 
ADVANCE CARRIER 

PTE LTD

100%
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng (Chairman)

Dr Ho Choon Hou

Pang Kong Chek

Yeo Seow Lai

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng (Chairman)

Yeo Hock Huat

Pang Kong Chek

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng (Chairman)

Pang Kong Chek

Yeo Seow Lai

REGISTERED OFFICE

10th Floor, Menara Hap Seng
No. 1 & 3 Jalan P. Ramlee
50250 Kuala Lumpur 
Tel no.	 : +603 2382 4288
Fax no.	 : +603 2382 4170

HEAD OFFICE

2 Woodlands Sector 1 #01-22
Singapore 738068
Tel no.	 : +65 6753 8077
Fax no.	 : +65 6753 8993
Website 	 : http://www.mclean.com.sg

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ng Sally (MAICSA 7060343)

Teo Mee Hui (MAICSA 7050642)

AUDITORS 

SJ Grant Thornton (AF 0737)
Level 11, Sheraton Imperial Court
Jalan Sultan Ismail
50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel no.	 : +603 2692 4022
Fax no.	 : +603 2691 5229

SHARE REGISTRAR 

Symphony Share Registrars Sdn Bhd (378993-D)
Level 6, Symphony House
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1
Jalan PJU 1A/46
47301 Petaling Jaya 
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel no.	 : +603 7849 0777 (Helpdesk)
Fax no.	 : +603 7841 8151/8152

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Malayan Banking Berhad
United Overseas Bank Limited
Hong Leong Bank Berhad
Public Bank Berhad

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad 
Stock Name 	 : MCLEAN & MCLEAN-WB
Stock Code 	 : 0167 & 0167WB 
Sector 		  : Trading Services 

DIRECTORS

Yeo Hock Huat	 (Executive Chairman, Executive Director)

Lim Han Kiau    	 (Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director)

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng	 (Senior Independent Non-Executive Director)

Dr Ho Choon Hou	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Pang Kong Chek	 (Independent Non-Executive Director)

Yeo Seow Lai	 (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Yeo Hock Huat

Executive Chairman

54 years of age, Male, Singaporean

Mr Yeo Hock Huat, was appointed to the Board on 1 June 2010 and is the Executive Chairman of MClean Technologies Berhad (“MClean”). He 

is a member of the Remuneration Committee of MClean. 

He holds a Diploma in Mechanical Engineering from Ngee Ann Polytechnic, Singapore and an Executive Masters in Business Administration 

from the National University of Singapore. 

Mr Yeo has more than 20 years of experience in contract services and the equipment manufacturing industry and is currently a Director of MClean 

Group. Mr Yeo is primarily responsible for the overall strategic direction and planning of our Group and had started our Group’s primary business 

in precision cleaning for the HDD manufacturers and assemblers through the founding of MClean Singapore.

 

He does not hold any directorship in any other public company. Mr Yeo is the brother of Madam Yeo Seow Lai who is a director and major 

shareholder of MClean. Save as mentioned, he has no family relationship with other Directors and/or major shareholders of MClean and does 

not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, he has never been convicted of any offences within the past five years other than traffic 

offences, if any.

Mr Yeo Hock Huat attended all five (5) Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Lim Han Kiau 

Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director

57 years of age, Male, Singaporean

Mr Lim Han Kiau, is the Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer and was appointed to the Board on 12 October 2015. He is responsible 

for the overall business operations of the Group, including overall sales and finance. He hails from The Chinese High School in Singapore and is 

a well-respected businessman with extensive experience in the surface treatment industry for more than 30 years. 

Mr Lim Han Kiau does not hold any directorship in any other public company. He has no family relationship with any director and/or major 

shareholder of MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, he has never been convicted of any offences within the 

past five years other than traffic offences, if any.

Mr Lim Han Kiau attended all five (5) Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 2016.
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng

Independent Non-Executive Director

54 years of age, Male, Malaysian

Dato’ Mark, was appointed to the Board on 16 June 2010. He is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit 

Committee. Dato’ Mark was born in Sarawak, Malaysia to a family rooted in business and commerce. The Ling family founded Hock Hua Bank 

and Kong Ming Bank, being the predecessors to Malaysia’s anchor banks of today, and have been extensively involved in timber concessions in 

Borneo as well as the Pacific islands, mining and property development in Australia and New Zealand. 

Upon completing his high school education at The Southport School, Australia, Dato’ Mark started his career in Kong Ming Bank Berhad (which 

had since been restructured to form part of the then EON Bank Group which merged with Hong Leong Bank Berhad today) on 2 February 1984 

as a Marketing Director where he was involved in project finance transactions in a number of industry sectors, including privatisation of public 

infrastructure, power and telecommunications. Dato’ Mark left the banking industry as a Marketing Director on 24 February 1988. Since then, 

Dato Mark has been focusing on the development of greenfield power projects in the Asia Pacific region. 

Dato’ Mark is highly experienced in regional business development and strategy. He was appointed as the Strategic Planning Advisor for Asia 

Pacific by Powergen International in 1996. Part of his role as the Advisor was to create proprietary deal flow to develop Powergen’s power project 

portfolio in the Asia Pacific region. Dato’ Mark led the execution of the acquisition of Malakoff Berhad, and was appointed as an Executive 

Director on 2 April 2001. 

On 1 August 2001, Dato’ Mark left Malakoff Berhad to set up a private equity firm specialising in the energy sectors. He has been involved 

with strategic investments focused primarily in the emerging economies in the Asia Pacific and Africa regions. His ventures include, inter 

alia, developing proprietary technology in oil and gas drilling, renewable energy power plant utilising biomass waste and currently, a steel 

manufacturing facility.

Dato’ Mark is also the Independent Non-Executive Director of Stemlife Berhad and an Executive Director of Powertek Berhad Group. He has no 

family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, he has 

never been convicted of any offences within the past five years other than traffic offences, if any.

Dato’ Mark attended all five (5) Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Dr Ho Choon Hou

Independent Non-Executive Director

45 years of age, Male, Singaporean

Dr Ho Choon Hou, was appointed to the Board on 17 August 2011 and is a member of the Audit Committee. 

Dr Ho holds a Bachelor of Medicine and Surgery (Honours) from the University of Sheffield, UK and a Master of Medicine (Surgery) from 

the National University of Singapore. He obtained membership into the Royal College of Surgeons (Edinburgh) and his Masters of Business 

Administration (Honours) from the University of Chicago. 

He is currently attached to Southern Capital Group Limited as an Executive Director, a private equity firm, which is principally involved in the 

management of investments for institutional investors.

Prior to joining Southern Capital Group Limited, Dr Ho held various portfolios in the healthcare industry. From 2004 to 2007, he served as 

Executive Director at National Healthcare Group. He was also the co-founder of Medfolders which was acquired by NovaMSC in 2000 and 

the co-founder of Cordlife (listed on the ASX). He is also the non-executive Chairman of Cordlife Group Limited listed on the Singapore Stock 

Exchange (“SGX”).

Dr Ho is also the Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman of Stemlife Berhad and the Independent Director of Advanced Holding Ltd (listed 

on the SGX). He has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with 

MClean. Further, he has never been convicted of any offences within the past five years other than traffic offences, if any.

Dr Ho attended all five (5) Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 2016.
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

Pang Kong Chek

Independent Non-Executive Director

40 years of age, Male, Malaysian

Mr Pang Kong Chek was appointed to the Board on 16 June 2010 and is a member of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee 

and Audit Committee. 

Mr Pang holds a Bachelor Degree in Business (Accountancy) from RMIT University, Australia. He is also a member of Certified Practising 

Accountants, Australia and the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Mr Pang brings with him more than ten (10) years of experience in the field of corporate accounting, finance, banking and administration. He 

was an Accountant at KZen Solutions Berhad, an ACE Market-listed company, for five (5) years from 2004 to 2009. During his tenure with the 

company, he handled the initial public offering and financial management of the group. 

Prior to his attachment with KZen Solutions Berhad, Mr Pang worked for a public accounting firm, Ernst & Young as a Senior Associate from 2000 

and resigning as a Senior Associate in 2004 whereby he has worked with many clients from various industries such as banking, manufacturing, 

consultancy, property development, trading, construction, investment holding and information technology. He was attached to Hewlett-Packard 

Malaysia as a Senior Financial Analyst supporting HP Enterprise Business Asia Pacific Finance from 2009 to 2010.

He left a local private company which he worked as Chief Financial Officer from 2010 to 2016 and joined another local company as Group 

Finance Manager. 

Mr Pang does not hold any directorship in any other public company. He has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of 

MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, he has never been convicted of any offences within the past five years 

other than traffic offences, if any.

Mr Pang attended all five (5) Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Yeo Seow Lai 

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

58 years of age, Female, Singaporean

Madam Yeo Seow Lai was appointed to the Board on 16 June 2010 and is a member of the Nomination Committee and Audit Committee. 

Madam Yeo holds a Diploma in Life Insurance from the Singapore College of Insurance.

Madam Yeo commenced her career with Great Eastern Life as a Career Agent on 14 May 1988 and was responsible for the financial planning 

for companies and individuals up to her resignation as a Career Agent on 30 July 1998. After leaving Great Eastern Life, she joined TM Asia Life 

(now Tokio Marine Insurance Singapore Ltd) on 1 August 1998 as a Senior Financial Advisor, whereby she was a Financial Planning Consultant 

and her role involved financial planning for companies and individuals as well as investment planning at individual and corporate levels. Overall, 

Madam Yeo has more than 20 years of experience in insurance. 

Madam Yeo now does financial planning only on the corporate level, in addition to her position as a certified Real Estate Professional with 

PropNex Realty Pte Ltd from 1 January 2016. Currently, she is also the Director of JCS Biotech Pte Ltd (formerly known as JCS Automation Pte 

Ltd), following her appointment on 8 June 1990.

Madam Yeo is the sister of Mr Yeo Hock Huat who is a director and major shareholder of MClean. Save as mentioned, she has no family 

relationship with other directors and/ or major shareholders of MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, she has 

never been convicted of any offences within the past five years other than traffic offences, if any.

Madam Yeo attended all five (5) Board Meetings of the Company held during the financial year ended 31 December 2016.
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PROFILE OF KEY SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Loh Weng Yew

Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”)

53 years of age, Male, Singaporean

Mr Loh Weng Yew, graduated from Curtin University of Technology, Australia with a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) in 1989. He is a member 

of both the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and CPA, Australia. He has been with the Group since November 2009 and has more 

than 20 years of experience in accounting, finance and administration. Mr Loh was appointed as CFO of MClean on 1 April 2010 and currently 

oversees the Group’s financials and participate in the Group’s strategic developments.  

He does not hold any directorship in any other public company. He has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of 

MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, he has never been convicted of any offences within the past five years 

other than traffic offences, if any.

Chow Kok Meng, Bert

Chief Operating Officer – Precision Cleaning

57 years of age, Male, Singaporean

Mr Bert Chow, is the Chief Operating Officer appointed on 1 January 2016 for the Precision Cleaning business operations of the Group. He has 

been with Mclean since its inception in 2003. Mr Bert Chow obtained his Degree of Bachelor of Engineering (Electrical) in 1986 from the National 

University of Singapore. He has more than 20 years of experience in the high technology manufacturing industry. 

Mr Bert Chow does not hold any directorship in any other public company. He has no family relationship with any director and/or major 

shareholder of MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, he has never been convicted of any offences within the 

past five years other than traffic offences, if any.

Chua Chee Tiong

Chief Operating Officer – Surface Treatment

47 years of age, Male, Singaporean

Mr Chua, is the Chief Operating Officer appointed on 1 January 2016 for the Surface Treatment business operations of the Group. He has been 

with DWZ group since 1997,  which subsequently become a subsidiary of Mclean in 2015. Mr Chua obtained his business degree from RMIT. He 

has more than 25 years of experience in the industry engineering and manufacturing industry. 

 

Mr Chua does not hold any directorship in any other public company. He has no family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of 

MClean and does not have any conflict of interest with MClean. Further, he has never been convicted of any offences within the past five years 

other than traffic offense, if any.



MClean Technologies Berhad (893631 T)12

INTRODUCTION

The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012 (“MCCG 2012”) sets out basic principles and recommendation of best practices on 
structures and processes that companies may adopt in their operations towards achieving the optimal governance framework.

The Board of Directors of MClean Technologies Berhad (“the Company”) remains committed in ensuring and maintaining that the Principles 
and Recommendations set out in the MCCG 2012 throughout the Companies as well as its subsidiaries (“Group”) as a fundamental basis in 
discharging their fiduciary duties and responsibilities to enhance long-term shareholders’ value whilst taking into account the interests of other 
stakeholders of the Company.

In line with the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the Board of Directors is pleased to provide the following 
statement, which outlines how the Group has complied with the Principles and Recommendations set out in the MCCG 2012 throughout the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1.	 ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

1.1	 Clear functions of the Board and those delegated to Management

The Company is led by a dynamic and experienced Board, which is primarily entrusted with the responsibility of charting the 
direction of the Group.

The Board is responsible for formulating and reviewing the strategic plans and key policies of the Company, whilst providing 
effective oversight of Management’s performance, risk assessment and controls over business operations to address the 
sustainability of the Group’s business.

The Board delegates and confers some of its authorities and discretion on the Chairman, Executive Directors, and Management 
as well as on properly constituted Board Committees comprising mainly/exclusively Non-Executive Directors.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”). The 
Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Group and for promoting the highest standards of integrity and probity and he 
leads strategic planning at the Board level. Further, the Chairman acts as facilitator at meetings of the Board to ensure that no 
directors, whether executive or non-executive, dominate discussion, that appropriate discussion takes place and that relevant 
opinion among directors is forthcoming. The Executive Directors/CEO, on the other hand, are responsible for making and 
implementing the policies laid down, operational and corporate decisions as well as developing, coordinating and implementing 
business and corporate strategies. 

The role of Management is to support the Executive Directors and implement the running of the general operations and financial 
business of the Company and the Group, in accordance with the delegated authority of the Board. 

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has also delegated specific responsibilities to the Board Committees 
include the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee, each of which functions are clearly defined 
in its respective terms of reference and operating procedures which are reviewed on a regular basis. These committees have the 
authority to examine particular issues for reporting to the Board with their recommendations. The ultimate responsibility for the 
final decision on all matters, however, lies with the entire Board.

In general, the Non-Executive Directors are independent of Management. The Non-Executive Directors play key supporting roles 
to contribute knowledge and experience towards the formulation of policies and in the decision-making process. Their roles 
are to constructively challenge Management and monitor the success of Management in delivering the approved targets and 
business plans within the risk appetite set by the Board. They have free and open contact with Management at all levels, and 
they engage with the external and internal auditors to address matters concerning Management and oversight of the Company’s 
business and operations.

Apart from matters which are expressly required by law to be approved by the Board, the matters specially reserved for the 
Board’s approvals, amongst others, are as follows:-
a.	 Charters for Board Committee;
b.	 Material acquisitions and disposals of assets not in the ordinary course of business of the Group;
c.	 Related party transactions;
d.	 Authorisation levels;
e.	 Treasury policy;
f.	 Risk management policy;
g.	 Dividend policy and recommendation of interim and final dividends;
h.	 Strategic plan, annual operating and capital expenditure budgets;
i.	 Financial statements;
j.	 Material contracts within the Group;
k.	 Appointment and removal of auditors based on recommendations from the Audit Committee; 
l.	 Appointment and removal of Directors of the Group, CEO and other senior Management positions based on the 

recommendation of Nomination and Remuneration Committees; and
m.	 Promoting effective communication and proactive engagements with shareholders.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

1.	E stablish clear roles and responsibilities (cont’d)

1.2	 Clear roles and responsibilities in discharging fiduciary and leadership functions

The Board has discharged its responsibilities in the best interests of the Company. The following are among the key responsibilities 
of the Board:

(a)	R eviewing and adopting the Company’s strategic plans

The Board has put in place a strategy planning process, whereby CEO presents to the Board its recommended strategy 
annually, together with the proposed business plans and strategies for the ensuing year for the Board’s review and 
approval. The Board will deliberate the recommended strategic plan at length and provide views and opinions to ensure 
that Management has taken into account all the appropriate considerations in establishing such strategic plan for the 
Group.

Management had prepared and presented its 2016 Budget and Business Plan for Board’s review at the Board meeting. 
The 2016 Budget and Business Plan were discussed in detail and subsequently approved by the Board.

The Board would continue to review the strategic plan to ensure its implementation.

(b)	 Overseeing the conduct of the Company’s business

The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day management of the business and operations of the Group in respect of both 
its regulatory and commercial functions. He is supported by Management and the Finance Director. 

In discharging its responsibility, the CEO had updated the Board on the key or major developments, achievement and 
challenges faced by the Group at the Board meeting. The Board had deliberated in depth and provided their feedback 
and guidance before decision was made in the same meeting. 

The Board together with CEO will continue to oversee the conduct of the Company’s business by monitoring the 
achievements and performance of Management under the leadership of CEO in delivering the approved targets in 
accordance with the strategic plan. 

(c)	I dentifying principal risks and ensuring the implementation of appropriate internal controls and mitigation 
measures

Through the Audit Committee, the Board oversees the Risk Management framework of the Group. The Audit Committee 
advises the Board on areas of high risk faced by the Group and the adequacy of compliance and control throughout the 
organisation. The Audit Committee reviews the action plan implemented and makes relevant recommendations to the 
Board to manage risks.

(d)	S uccession Planning

The Board has entrusted the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee with the responsibility to review 
candidates for the Board and key management positions to ensure all such key positions being filled are of sufficient 
caliber and are remunerated accordingly. 

The Board views succession planning as important for business continuity. It is acknowledged that with succession 
planning, the key job vacancies created due to retirement and resignation would be filled quickly and without any 
business interruption. 

(e)	 Overseeing the development and implementation of a shareholder communications policy for the Company

The Company strongly believes that effective and timely communication is essential in maintaining good relations with 
the shareholders, investors and investment community. The Company carried out its Investor Relations (“IR”) activities 
with reference to its stated Corporate Disclosure Policy, which is available on its website.

In addition to the above, shareholders and investors can make inquiries about investor relations matters with designated 
management personnel directly responsible for investor relations, via dedicated e-mail addresses available on the 
corporate website.

(f)	R eviewing the adequacy and integrity of management information and internal control system of the Company

The Board is ultimately responsible for the adequacy and integrity of the Company’s internal control system. Details 
pertaining to the Company’s internal control system and the reviews of its effectiveness are set out in the Statement on 
Risk Management and Internal Control of this Annual Report.

1.3	 Formalised ethical standards through Directors’ Code of Conduct

The Board is guided by the Directors’ Codes of Conduct in discharging its oversight role effectively. The Directors’ Codes of 
Conduct require all Directors to observe high ethical business standards, and to apply these values to all aspects of the Group’s 
business and professional practice and act in good faith in the best interests of the Group and its shareholders. A summary of 
the Directors’ Codes of Conduct was published on the corporate website at www.mclean.com.sg and it will be reviewed from 
time to time by the Board.

The Board had formalised the Company’s Whistleblowing Policy whereby all employees are encouraged to disclose any 
malpractice or misconduct of which they become aware. The detail of Whistleblowing Policy can be found on the corporate 
website at www.mclean.com.sg.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

1.	E stablish clear roles and responsibilities (cont’d)

1.4	S trategies promoting sustainability

The Board believes that it is crucial in driving interest and investments towards sustainability to the mutual benefit of the Group 
and its investors.

MClean focus on sustainability are marked on achieving long-term shareholder value by gearing their strategies and management 
to harness the market’s potential for sustainable products and services while at the same time minimizing costs and mitigating 
any sustainability risks. The Group’s overall strategy involves continuous integration of long term economic, environmental, 
governance and social aspects in their business strategies while maintaining competitiveness, as set out below:

•	 Financial 
	 Meeting shareholders’ demands for reasonable financial returns, long-term economic growth, open communication and 

transparent financial reporting.

•	 Environmental 
	 Investing in technologies and systems, which use financial, natural and social resources in an efficient, effective and 

economic manner over the long-term.

•	 Governance and Stakeholder
	 Embracing standards of corporate governance including corporate code of conducts and public reporting.

•	 Human Capital 
	 Managing human resources to maintain workforce capabilities and employee satisfaction through learning and knowledge 

management practices as well as remuneration and benefit programs.

1.5	A ccess to information and advice  

The Directors have individual and independent access to the advice and dedicated support services of the Company Secretaries 
in ensuring the effective functioning of the Board. The Directors may seek advice from Management on issues under their 
respective purview. The Directors may also interact directly with Management, or request further explanation, information or 
updates on any aspect of the Company’s operations or business concerns from them.

In addition, the Board may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense on specific issues to enable it to 
discharge its duties in relation to matters being deliberated.

1.6	 Qualified and competent company secretaries 

The Board is supported by suitable, qualified and competent Company Secretaries who are responsible for providing support 
and guidance to the Board on issues relating to compliance with rules and regulations and relevant laws affecting the Company 
as well as the best practices on governance matters.

The Board is regularly updated and apprised by the Company Secretary on new regulation issued by the regulatory authorities. 
The Company Secretary also serves notice to the Directors and Principal Officers to notify them of closed periods for trading in 
the Company’s shares.

The Company Secretaries roles including to attend all Board meetings and Board Committees meetings whereby during such 
meetings, the Company Secretaries shall ensure that all issues being deliberated with the decision and conclusion reached 
are accurately and properly recorded and documented. The Company Secretaries shall also record, prepare and circulate the 
minutes of the meetings of the Board and Board Committees and ensure that the minutes are properly kept at the registered 
office of the Company and readily available for inspection, if required. In addition, the Company Secretaries shall facilitate the 
Board in conducting the annual Board Effectiveness Assessment. 

Further, the Company Secretary works closely with Management to ensure that there are timely and appropriate information 
flows within and to the Board and Board Committees.

1.7	 Board Charter

The Board adopted the Board Charter on 27 February 2013 which serves as a reference point for Board’s activities. The Board 
Charter provides guidance for Directors and Management on the roles and responsibilities of the Board, its CEO and Board 
Committees. The Board Charter is made available at the Company’s website at www.mclean.com.sg.

The Board Charter is subject to regulary review to ensure consistency with the Board’s objectives and responsibilities, and 
relevant laws, regulations, guidelines as well as standards of corporate governance.  The Board had reviewed the Board Charter 
in April 2016.

2. 	S TRENGTHEN COMPOSITION

2.1    	 Board Composition and Balance

The Board comprises six (6) members, of whom, one (1) Executive Chairman, one (1) CEO, one (1) Non-Independent Non-
Executive Director and three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors. The composition of the Board meets the criteria on one 
third (1/3) independent directorship as set out in the ACE Market Listing Requirements. 

Although the Chairman is not an Independent Non-Executive Director, the Board is of the view that there are sufficient independent 
minded Directors with wide board room experience to provide the necessary check and balance. 

Besides, the Board maintains specific Board committees with clear responsibilities and terms of reference to assist the Board in 
carrying out its stewardship role and function, and fulfilling its fiduciary responsibilities. The Executive Chairman, as a rule, will 
abstain from all deliberations and voting on matters, which he is directly or deemed interested.
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2. 	S TRENGTHEN COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.1    	 Board Composition and Balance (cont’d)

The Board comprises highly respectable and professional persons and represents a diverse background of knowledge, expertise 
and experience. With their combined experience and knowledge they provide sound advice and judgement for the benefit of 
the Company and its shareholders. The mixed skills and experience are vital for the successful performance of the Company. 
Details of each individual Director’s skill and experience are presented in the Board Directors’ Profile set out on pages 8 to 10 of 
this Annual Report. 

The Board continues to give close consideration to its size, composition, spread of experience and expertise. The Executive 
Directors are overall responsible for implementing the strategies and decisions of the Board, overseeing the Group’s day-to-day 
operations and businesses, whilst the Independent Non-Executive Directors provide their independent view, unbiased judgment 
and knowledge to Management as well as safeguarding the interests of the shareholders. No individual or group of individuals 
dominates the Board’s decision-making and non-Executive Directors do not participate in the day-to-day management of the 
Group.

2.2    	 Board Committees

The Board delegates certain responsibilities to Board Committees, each with defined terms of reference and responsibilities and 
the Board receives reports of their proceedings and deliberations. Where Committees have no authority to make decisions on 
matters reserved for the Board, recommendations would be highlighted for the Board of Directors’ approval. The Chairman of 
the various Committees report the outcome of the Committee meetings to the Board and relevant decisions are incorporated in 
the minutes of the Board of Directors’ meetings.

The Board Committees consists of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee to enhance business, 
operational and administration efficiency and effectiveness. 

The Board periodically reviews the Committees’ terms of reference.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 10 November 2010 comprised of three (3) Independent Non-Executive Directors and 
one (1) Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors. 

Details of the Audit Committee composition and activities during the financial year ended 31 December 2016 are set out on  
pages 25 to 26 of this Annual Report.

Nomination Committee 

The Nomination Committee was established on 10 November 2010 comprised exclusively of Non-Executive Directors. The 
Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for the identification of desired mix of expertise, competencies and experiences 
for an effective Board and the assessment of the performance of the members of the Board.

For the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee held two (2) meetings. The members and record of attendance of 
individual committee members are as follows:-

 Members		N  umber of Meeting Attended

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng (Chairman)	 2/2
Pang Kong Chek	 2/2
Yeo Seow Lai		  2/2

The Nomination Committee is guided by specific terms of reference, which the same has been published on the Company’s 
website.

The Nomination Committee will assist the Board on an on-going basis in the following responsibilities:-

a)	 To recommend to the Board, candidates for directorships. In making its recommendations, to consider the candidates’ 
skills, knowledge, expertise and experience; professionalism; integrity; and in the case of candidate for the position of 
independent non-executive directors, to evaluate the candidates’ ability to discharge such responsibilities/functions as 
expected from independent non-executive directors.

b)	 To review the criteria adopted for such assessment to ensure that it is current and relevant.
c)	 To recommend the Directors to sit on respective Board committees.
d)	 To administer the annual assessment of Directors, including a review of the skill, qualification and competencies of the 

Board as a whole, the committees of the Board and for assessing the contribution of each individual director, including 
independent non-executive directors, as well as the chief executive officer. All assessments and evaluations carried out 
to be properly documented.

e)	 To identify suitable orientation, educational and training programmes for continuous development of Directors.

In discharge of its duties for the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Nomination Committee had performed the following 
key activities:-

•	 reviewed the structure of the Board and the Board Committees;
•	 reviewed the tenure of Independent Non-Executive Director and their independence;
•	 evaluated the performance of the Board and Board Committees;
•	 nominated the directors who are due for retirement by rotation and are eligible to stand for re-election; and
•	 evaluated and determined the training needs of the Directors.

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

The Board has identified the Independent Non-Executive Director, Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng, as the Senior Independent 
Non-Executive Director to whom concerns of shareholders and other stakeholders may be conveyed. 

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng can be contacted by e-mail at mark@bic.com.my.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
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2. 	 STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION (cont’d)

2.3	 Develop, maintain and review criteria for recruitment and annual assessment of Directors

Board appointment process

The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying and recommending suitable candidates for Board membership through 
a transparent and rigorous process. All nominations of candidates for the positions of directors and CEO must be submitted 
to the Nomination Committee for consideration. The Nomination Committee shall assess the candidates based on the “Fit and 
Proper” standards before recommending the candidates to the Board for approval.

The Nomination Committee also has the liberty to rely on external opinions and services for such recommendations. The Board 
will have ultimate responsibility and final decision on such appointment. Notwithstanding the skills and experiences of each 
candidate, the Nomination Committee takes into consideration the following factors for the purposes of the appointment:-

•	 the candidate’s general understanding of the Group’s business;
•	 the candidate’s integrity, professionalism, qualification, time commitment, experience and background; 
•	 other factors that promote diversity in age, gender and experience; and
•	 in the case of candidates for the position of Independent Non-Executive Directors, whether such candidate has met the 

requirements for independence as defined in the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad;

Upon deciding on their selection(s), the Nomination Committee will contact those identified candidates to ascertain the 
candidate’s interest in serving the Company. The above process will ensure that prospective Board member(s) have clarity on 
the nominating process as well as Director/Board profiles, roles and responsibilities, expectations of time commitments and 
other criteria as required.

As part of the appointment/selection process, the potential candidate must disclose his existing directorships as well as any 
other commitments as to determine whether he has adequate time to perform his duties.

The recruitment process concludes with an induction programme for a newly appointed director. The induction programme shall 
allow the newly appointed director to understand the Company’s vision and mission, the nature of the business, the corporate 
strategy and business plan, current issues affecting the Group and the expectations of the Company concerning input from 
directors.

Appointments and Re-Election

The Company’s Constitution (previously “Memorandum and Articles of Association”) provided that at least one third (1/3) of the 
Directors including the managing director are subject to retirement by rotation at least once in every three (3) years but shall 
be eligible for re-election at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) and can offer himself/herself for re-election. The Article also 
provides that a Directors who are appointed by the Board during the financial year are subject to election by the shareholders at 
the next AGM to be held following their appointment. 

The Nomination Committee will provide its recommendation to the Board for the Board’s recommendation to the shareholders for 
the re-election and re-appointment of a Director at the AGM, in accordance with its Constitution after evaluating the performance 
of such individual Director. In determining whether to recommend a Director for re-election, the Director’s past attendance 
at meetings, participation and contribution to the functioning of the Board and its committee will be duly considered by the 
Nomination Committee.

Annual Assessment

The Board reviews and evaluates its own performance and the performance of its Committees on an annual basis. The Board 
evaluation comprises a Board Assessment, an Individual (Self & Peer) Assessment, Board Committees’ Assessment and an 
Assessment of Independence of Independent Directors.

The assessment of the Board is based on specific criteria, covering areas such as the Board structure, Board operations, roles 
and responsibilities of the Board, the Board Committees and the Chairman’s role and responsibilities. The Board had also put in 
place performance assessment forms for each Board Committees based on the specific functions, duties and responsibilities 
carried out by each Board Committees.

For Individual (Self & Peer) Assessment, the assessment criteria include contribution to interaction, quality of inputs, and 
understanding of role.

The results of the assessment would form the basis of the Nomination Committee’s recommendation to the Board for the  
re-election of Directors at the next AGM.

The Nomination Committee also undertakes yearly evaluation of the performance of the Finance Director/Chief Financial Officer 
(“CFO”) whose remuneration is directly linked to performance, based on his score sheet. For this purpose, the performance 
evaluation of the CFO for the year 2016 was reviewed by the Nomination Committee on 24 February 2017.

Boardroom Diversity

The Board views that the diversity of the Board’s composition is important to facilitate decision making process by harnessing 
different insights and perspectives. The current diversity in gender, ethnicity and age of the existing Board is as follows:

			R   ace/Ethnicity	A ge Group	G ender
			   Malay	 Chinese	I ndian	 30-39	 40-49	 50-59	 60-69	 Male	 Female

Number of Directors	 -	 6	 -	 -	 2	 4	 -	 5	 1

The Company has one (1) female director for the time being. Nevertheless, the Board has yet to implement gender diversity 
policies and targets, or has any immediate plans to implement such policies and targets as the Board is of the view that gender 
should not be a basis of evaluation and that candidate should be sought after based on their level of experience and skill set as 
well as other qualities as stated above. 

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
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2. 	St rengthen Composition (cont’d)

2.3	 Develop, maintain and review criteria for recruitment and annual assessment of Directors (cont’d)

Boardroom Diversity (cont’d)

The gender diversity policy would be established should the need arises to ensure that due consideration is given to female 
candidates as directors and/or Board Committee members and facilitate achievement of such policies and targets. 

2.4 	R emuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee was established on 10 November 2010. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for 
recommending the remuneration framework and the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors (including Executive 
Chairman and CEO) and to establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on remuneration packages of 
individual directors. 

The Remuneration Committee is guided by specific terms of reference, which the same has been published on the Company’s 
website.

For the financial year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one (1) meeting. The members and the record of attendance 
of individual committee members are as follows:

 Members		N  umber of Meeting Attended

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng (Chairman)	 1/1
Pang Kong Chek	 1/1
Yeo Seow Lai		  1/1

The Remuneration Committee reviews annually and proposes, subject to the approval of the Board, the remuneration scheme 
taking into consideration the term of office of each Director as a member of the Board as well as Committees of the Board. 
The determination of the remuneration packages of Directors are considered and approved by the Board as a whole. The 
remuneration and benefits of Directors is generally based on market conditions, responsibilities held and the overall financial 
performance of the Group. Nevertheless, the interested Directors shall abstain from any discussion on their own remuneration 
packages. 

Directors’ remuneration and benefits are recommended by the Remuneration Committee to the Board for the approval by the 
shareholders of the Company at annual general Meeting. 

Directors’ Remuneration and benefits

The Remuneration Committee considers the principles recommended by MCCG 2012 in determining the Directors’ remuneration 
and benefits whereby, the Executive Directors’ remuneration is designed to link rewards to the Group’s and individual 
performance whilst the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is determined in accordance with their experience and the 
level of responsibilities assumed. Additionally, in ensuring that the Directors’ remuneration and benefits is in line with the market 
expectations and competition to retain and attract talents in the Group, reference is made to the Directors’ remuneration and 
benefits offered by other public listed companies.

It is the Board’s and Remuneration Committee’s duty to ensure that the level of remuneration is sufficient to attract and retain the 
Directors to build the Company successfully. Currently, the Directors are satisfied with their level of remuneration and benefits 
offered by the Company.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration, including benefits received by the Directors from the Company and its subsidiaries and on 
a Group basis during the financial year ended 31 December 2016 are as follows: 

			G   roup	  Company 	
											N           on-		N  on-
					       					E     xecutive 	E xecutive	E xecutive	E xecutive
					       Categories of Remuneration		  Directors 	 Directors	 Directors 	 Directors
										R          M	R M	R M	R M

Director Fees 		  48,000	 226,000	 48,000	 226,000
Salary, Bonus and Incentive		  645,689	 -	 -	 -
EPF Contribution		  76,137	 -	 -	 -
Benefit-in-kind		  143,487	 -	 -	 -
	

Total:				   913,313	 226,000	 48,000	 226,000
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2. 	St rengthen Composition (cont’d)

2.4 	R emuneration Committee (cont’d) 

Directors’ Remuneration and benefits (cont’d)

The number of Directors whose remuneration falls within the following bands is tabulated as below:-

			G   roup	  Company 	
											N           on-		N  on-
					       					E     xecutive 	E xecutive	E xecutive	E xecutive
					       Range of Remuneration (RM)		  Directors 	 Directors	 Directors 	 Directors

50,000 and below		  -	 2	 2	 2
50,001 to 100,000		  -	 2	 -	 2
100,001 to 150,000		  -	 -	 -	 -
150,001 to 300,000 		  -	 -	 -	 -
300,001 to 350,000		  -	 -	 -	 -
350,001 to 400,000		  -	 -	 -	 -
400,001 to 450,000		  -	 -	 -	 -
450,001 to 500,000		  2	 -	 -	 -

Remuneration payable to Directors of the Company and its group of companies during the year analysed into bands above, 
which complies with the disclosure requirements under the ACE Market Listing Requirements.

3.	REIN FORCE INDEPENDENCE

(i)	S eparation of the Positions of the Chairman and the CEO

The positions of the Chairman and the CEO are held by two different individuals. Mr Yeo Hock Huat is the Chairman whereas Mr 
Lim Han Kiau is the Company’s CEO, both of them are Executive Directors.

The distinct and separate roles of the Chairman and CEO, with a clear division of responsibilities, ensure a balance of power and 
authority, such that no one individual has unfettered powers of decision-making.

As Executive Chairman, Mr Yeo Hock Huat plays a pivotal role in assisting the Board in developing policies and strategies and 
ensuring that they are implemented effectively. The Board is unanimous in its decision that to remain Mr Yeo Hock Huat as 
an Executive Chairman since there is a good balance of power and authority as all the Board Committees are chaired by the 
Independent Directors.

(ii)	 Tenure of Independent Directors

The Board complied with the recommendation of the MCCG 2012 that the tenure of an independent Director should not exceed 
a cumulative term of nine (9) years. Upon completion of the nine (9) years, an independent director may continue to serve on 
the Board subject to the director’s re-designation as a non-independent director. The Board, upon recommendation of the 
Nomination Committee, shall justify and seek shareholders’ approval in the event that the person, who has served in that 
capacity for more than nine (9) years, retains as an independent director. 

The Board noted that none of the Independent Non-Executive Directors have served on the Board for more than nine (9) years.

(iii)	A nnual Assessment of Independence of Independent Director

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, assesses the independence of Independent Directors annually. The criteria for 
assessing the independence of an Independent Director include the relationship between the Independent Director and the 
Company and his involvement in any significant transaction with the Company.

Based on the assessment of the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors conducted by the Nomination 
Committee on 24 February 2017, the Board is satisfied that all Independent Non-Executive Directors are able to provide check 
and balance to the Board’s decision making process and bring independent and objective judgement to board deliberations.

The Board composition has met with the ACE Market Listing Requirements and the MCCG 2012 for a balanced board which is 
fulfilled with Independent Directors constituting more than one-third of the Board.

(iv)	S hareholders’ approval for the Continuance in Office as Independent Directors

The Board would seek shareholders’ approval at the AGM if an Independent Director who has served in that capacity for more 
than nine (9) years shall remain as an Independent Director.

The Nomination Committee will assess the independence of the Independent Director based on the assessment criteria 
developed by the Nomination Committee, and recommended to the Board for recommendation to shareholders for approval. 
Justification for the Board’s recommendation would be provided to shareholders, where applicable.     

4. 	 FOSTER COMMITMENT

(i)	 Time Commitment

The Directors observe the recommendation of the MCCG 2012 that they are required to notify the Chairman before accepting 
any new directorship and to indicate the time expected to be spent on the new appointment.

To ensure that the Directors have the time to focus and fulfill their roles and responsibilities effectively, none of the Directors holds 
directorships of more than five (5) public listed companies.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
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4. 	 FOSTER COMMITMENT (cont’d)

(i)	 Time Commitment (cont’d)

The Board meets at quarterly intervals and on other occasions, as and when necessary, to inter-alia approve quarterly results, 
the Annual Report and budgets as well as to review the performance of the Group, operating subsidiaries and other business 
development activities. Senior Management, internal auditors, external auditors and/or other professional advisors are invited to 
attend the Board and Board Committee meetings to advise on relevant agenda items to enable the Board and its Committees 
to arrive at a considered decision.

A total of five (5) Board meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 December 2016. The details of attendance of the 
Board members are listed as follows:

 Name of Directors	N umber of Meetings Attended

Yeo Hock Huat		  5/5
Yeo Seow Lai		  5/5
Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng	 5/5
Pang Kong Chek	 5/5
Dr. Ho Choon Hou 	 5/5
Lim Han Kiau 		  5/5

All Directors have complied with the requirements on minimum 50% attendance at Board meetings as stipulated in the ACE 
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities.

The Board meetings for each financial year are scheduled and planned ahead before the commencement of a new financial year. 
This is to allow the Directors to organise their plans and activities ahead to enable them to attend all the Board meetings which 
have been scheduled. All the Directors have fully participated in the discussions during the Board meetings. There is no Board 
dominance by any individual and the Directors are free to express their views and opinions during the Board meetings. In arriving 
at Board decisions, the will of the majority prevails at all times. 

The Directors are aware that they must notify the other Board members of their interest in contracts that is in conflict, or in 
potential conflict with an interest of the Company or its subsidiaries by disclosing the nature and extent of that interest as arise 
and they do not participate in the deliberations on the matters of which they have a material personal interest, and abstain from 
voting in such matters.

(ii)	 Directors’ Trainings

The Directors are mindful that appropriate trainings are required from time to time to keep them abreast with the development of 
the industry as well as comply with the statutory and regulatory requirements.

To ensure that the Directors are competent in carrying out their expected roles and responsibilities, they are provided with the 
opportunity for training and update from time to time, particularly on relevant new laws and regulations, financial reporting, risk 
management and investors relation to equip themselves with the knowledge to effectively discharge their duties as Directors.

The Board will assume the onus of determining and overseeing the training needs of their Directors. Board members were also 
constantly updated by the Company Secretary during the Board meeting on various updates on regulatory development.

During the financial year under review, Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng and Mr Lim Han Kiau have not attended any trainings 
due to their business commitments, both overseas and locally.

Save for the above, the following Directors had attended the following training, seminars conferences, forum and exhibitions 
which they considered vital in keeping abreast with changes in laws and regulation, business environment, and corporate 
government development during the financial year ended 31 December 2016:- 

 No.	N ame of Director	 Course Attended	 Date Attended

1.	 Yeo Hock Huat	 China-US-Singapore Globalised Economic Innovation 	 3 December 2016 
				    Forum at Santa Clara Convention Center	

2.	 Yeo Seow Lai	 Mastery Recruitment Training 	 17 March 2016 to  
					     19 March 2016

3.	 Pang Kong Chek	 Advocacy Sessions on Management Discussion	 9 September 2016 
				    and Analysis

4.	 Dr. Ho Choon Hou	 1)	DBS Private Bank: Market Outlook H1 2016	 6 January 2016

			   2)	UBS Wealth Insights, Singapore 2016	 12 January 2016

			   3)	Lunch Dialogue on SGX Sustainability Reporting	 29 January 2016 
				       Consultation Paper

			   4)	INSEAD Directors Forum (IDF) & Certification	 11 March 2016 
				       Award Ceremony

The Directors will continue to undergo other relevant training programmes as appropriate, to further enhance their skills and 
knowledge and fully equip themselves to effectively discharge their duties.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

5.	U PHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

(i)	 Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors is responsible to present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position and 
prospects through the annual financial statements, quarterly and half yearly announcement of results to the shareholders as well 
as the Chairman’s statement and review of operations in the Annual Report. The Company’s financial statements are drawn up in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 and the approved accounting standards in Malaysia. 

The Board is responsible to ensure that the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Group at the end of the financial year and of their operations and cash flows for the financial year 
then ended. The Audit Committee of the Board assists by scrutinizing the information to be disclosed to ensure accuracy and 
adequacy. A full Statement of Directors’ Responsibility is enclosed in page 27 of the annual report.

(ii)	R elationship with Auditors

The Board through the establishment of Audit Committee, maintains a formal and transparent relationship with the Company’s 
Internal and External Auditors which has been accorded the authority to communicate directly with the Internal and External 
Auditors.

The Audit Committee meets with the internal and external auditors respectively, to discuss the audit plan, audit findings and the 
Group’s financial statements. The external auditors also meet the Audit Committee at least twice a year without the presence 
of the Executive Directors and Management. In addition, the external auditors are invited to attend the AGM and to answer the 
shareholders’ questions relating to the audited financial statements which may arise at the AGM.

The Audit Committee takes responsibility to ensure that adequate resources are allocated to the internal auditors to carry out 
their duties in accordance with the annual audit plan. 

(iii)	A ssessment of suitability and independence of external auditors

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing audit, recurring audit-related and non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors. These recurring audit-related and non-audit services comprise regulatory reviews and reporting, interim reviews, tax 
advisory and compliance services.

The external auditors had communicated with the Audit Committee vide the Audit Planning Memorandum and audit findings, and 
had provided the necessary quality of service and had sufficient resources to carry out the audit. 

The external auditors have confirmed to the Audit Committee that they are, and have been, independent throughout the conduct 
of the audit engagement in accordance with the terms of all relevant professional and regulatory requirements. 

The terms of engagement for services provided by the external auditors are reviewed by the Audit Committee prior to submission 
to the Board for approval.

The Audit Committee had evaluated the performance of the external auditors and made recommendations to the Board on their 
re-appointment and audit fee. 

Nevertheless, the Audit Committee will put in place an annual assessment form to document the assessment carried out on the 
suitability and independence of the external auditors on an annual basis. 

The Board noted that the external auditors had expressed their willingness to continue in office for the ensuring year and having 
reviewed the suitability and independence of the external auditors, the Board recommend the re-appointment of the external 
auditors to the shareholder at the forthcoming Seventh AGM.

(iv)	 Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial statements of the Group and of the Company are drawn up in 
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 and applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia so 
as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the financial year end and of the results 
and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year.

In preparing the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 the Directors have:
-	 Adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
- 	 Made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- 	 Ensured adoption of applicable approved accounting standards; and
- 	 Prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis, as the Board has reasonable expectations that the Group 

and Company have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for foreseeable future.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group and Company maintain proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Group and of the Company, and which enables them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act, 1965.

The Directors also have the general responsibilities for taking such steps that are reasonably available to them to safeguard the 
assets of the Group and of the Company, and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)

6.	 Recognise and Manage Risks

(i)	S ound framework to manage risks

Management has put in place an adequate and effective system of internal controls addressing material financial, operational, 
compliance and information technology risks to safeguard the assets of the Company and the interest of shareholders.

The Board has overall responsibility for the governance of risk and oversees Management in the monitoring of a sound risk 
management framework and internal control systems. The Audit Committee assist the Board in strengthening Management’s 
risk management capabilities for the Group.

The Audit Committee are guided by its Terms of Reference, in particular, they:

(a)	 make recommendations to the Board on the risk appetite and associated risk parameters including risk limits for the 
Group;

(b)	 review and assess compliance with and the adequacy of the risk management framework, policies and strategies to 
identify, measure, manage and report risks;

(c)	 oversee Management in the formulation, updating and maintenance of an adequate and effective risk management 
framework, policies and strategies for managing risks that are consistent with Group’s approved risk appetite and 
parameters and report to the Board on their decisions on any material matters concerning the aforementioned;

(d)	 make the necessary recommendations to the Board such that an opinion and comment regarding the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems can be made by the Board in the annual report of 
the Company in accordance with the Listing Requirements and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: 
Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers; and

(e)	 consider and advise on risk matters referred to them by Management or the Board including reviewing and reporting to 
the Board on any material breaches of approved risk limits, any material non-compliance with the approved framework 
and policies and the adequacy of any proposed action.

The risk management framework and internal controls system are reviewed and where appropriate, refined regularly by 
Management, Audit Committee and the Board.

The Board defines the level of risk appetite, approving and overseeing the operation of the Group’s Risk Management Framework, 
assessing its effectiveness and reviewing any major/ significant risk facing the Group.

The Board delegates the oversight of risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 
oversees the implementation of the risk management framework of the Group and advises the Board on areas of high risk faced 
by the Group and the adequacy of compliance and control throughout the organisation. The Audit Committee also assesses all 
material and key risks associated with the Group’s businesses and operation as well as corporate proposals; and reviews the 
action plan implemented and makes relevant recommendations to the Board.

Internal auditors and external auditors conduct reviews that involve testing the effectiveness of the material internal controls 
for the Group addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks. This includes testing, where 
practicable, material internal controls in areas managed by external service providers. Any material non-compliance or lapses 
in internal controls together with corrective measures recommended by the internal auditors is reported to and reviewed by the 
Audit Committee. The adequacy and effectiveness of the measures taken by Management in response to the recommendations 
made by the internal auditors are also reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The Board has received assurance from the CEO and CFO that the risk management framework and internal controls system 
in place for the Group is adequate and effective in addressing the material risks faced by the Group in its current business 
environment including material financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks. The CEO and CFO have 
obtained similar assurances from the respective risk and control owners.

The Board notes that the risk management framework and internal controls system established by Management provides 
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance, that the Group, as it strives to achieve its business objectives, will not be significantly 
affected by any event that can be reasonably foreseen or anticipated. However, the Board also notes that no system of risk 
management and internal controls can provide absolute assurance in this regard or absolute assurance against poor judgment 
in decision making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

The detailed processes of risk management are described in the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control on pages 
23 to 24 of this Annual Report.

(ii) 	I nternal Audit Function

The Company has outsourced its Internal audit function to a professional services firm namely, Audex Governance Sdn. Bhd. to 
assist the Audit Committee in discharging its duties and responsibilities in respect of reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Board has also considered the adequacy of internal controls in addressing these risks and recognises that risks cannot be 
eliminated completely. Nevertheless, with the implementation of an adequate system of internal control, the Directors and Senior 
Management of the Group would aim to provide reasonable assurance against material misstatements, losses and fraud. The 
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, which provides an overview of the state of internal controls within the 
Group, is set out on pages 23 to 24 of this Annual Report.
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7. 	ENSURE  TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE

(i) 	 Corporate Disclosure Policy and Procedures

The Board shall ensure that all communications to the public are timely, factual, accurate, complete, broadly disseminated and 
where necessary, filed with regulators in accordance with applicable laws.

The CEO and CFO are responsible for determining materiality of information and ensuring timely, complete and accurate 
disclosure of material information to the investing public in accordance with securities laws and stock exchange rules and 
regulations, monitoring compliance with this policy and overseeing the disclosure controls and procedures. 

Sufficient information would be provided to the Company Secretary for drafting of necessary announcement. 

The Board is mindful that information which is expected to be material must be announced immediately, and that the confidential 
information should be handled properly to avoid leakage and improper use of such information. 

(ii) 	L everage on information technology for effective dissemination of information

The Company’s website, www.mclean.com.sg provides all relevant corporate information and it is accessible by the public. The 
Company’s website includes all announcements made by the Company, Annual Reports and Group Financial Highlights.

Through the Company’s website, the stakeholders are able to direct queries to the Company.

 8.	S TREGHTEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS  

(i)	E ffective communication with Shareholders

The Board acknowledges the importance of accountability to its shareholders and investors. Timely releases of the financial 
results on a quarterly basis, press releases and announcements provide an overview of the Group’s performance and operations 
to its shareholders. 

The annual report of the Company is a key channel of communication with shareholders and investors, which highlights the 
corporation information and financial highlights of the Group, to facilitate shareholders’ easy access to such key information.

The AGM is the primary forum for dialogue with the shareholders. At the AGM, the Chairman and Board members presents the 
progress and performance of the business and shareholders are encouraged to participate in the question and answer session. 

The Chairman informs shareholders of their right to demand a poll vote at the commencement of all general meetings of the 
Company. However, effective from 1 July 2016, any resolution set out in the notice of any general meeting, or in any notice of 
resolution which may be properly moved and is intended to be moved at any general meeting, is voted by poll. 

The following are some of the channels used by the Company to disseminate information on a timely basis to the shareholders 
and the investing public:-

a)	 Annual Report communicates comprehensive information of the financial results and activities undertaken by Group;
b) 	 Quarterly announcements and corporate disclosures to Bursa Securities are available on the website  

www.bursamalaysia.com;
c)	 Press releases provide up-to-date information on the Group’s key corporate initiatives and new product and service 

launches; 
d) 	 The Company’s website provides corporate information of the Group, where information on the Company’s announcements 

and financial information can be accessed.

The Board also recognises the need to fully disclose to shareholders all major developments in relation to the Group on a timely 
basis. Therefore, in addition to the mandatory disclosures requirement by Bursa Malaysia as well as other corporate disclosures, 
the Company also maintains a website at www.mclean.com.sg for access by the public and shareholders.

Where possible and applicable, the Group provides additional disclosure of information on a voluntary basis. The Board believes 
that on-going communication with shareholders is vital to shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions.

(ii)  	 Poll voting

At the AGM of the Company held on 23 June 2016, all resolutions put forth for the shareholders’ approval at the meeting were 
voted on by way of show of hands. 

However, in line with the amendments to ACE Market Listing Requirements on poll voting effective on 1 July 2016, all the 
resolutions put forth for the shareholders’ approval at the meeting will be voted by poll. 

The Company will ensure at least one independent scrutineer is appointed to validate the votes cast at the meeting.

Further, the results of the poll voting for the general meetings will be announced to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad in 
accordance to ACE Market Listing Requirements.

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

The Board believes that the Company has adopted the Principles and Recommendations of the MCCG 2012 in all material aspects, save as 
disclosed therein, for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

This statement is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board dated 13 April 2017.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
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Introduction

Rule 15.26(b) of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) Listing Requirements for the ACE Market requires directors of 
public listed companies to include a statement in the annual report with respect to the state, nature and scope of the internal control and risk 
management system of MClean Technologies Berhad (“MClean”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 

Pursuant to this, the Board of Directors (“the Board”) of MClean is pleased to provide its Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control, 
which has been prepared with reference to the Statement on Risk Management & Internal Control: Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers. The 
statement below outlines the nature and scope of internal control of the MClean Group during the financial year ended 31 December 2016 up 
to the date of approval of this Statement.

Board Responsibility

The Board recognises its overall responsibility to maintain a sound risk management framework and internal control system and the need to 
articulating, implementing and reviewing the Company’s internal control system. Periodic testing of the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk 
management and internal control procedures and processes are conducted to ensure that the system is viable and robust. Such system covers 
not only financial controls but also operational and compliance controls. 

However, as there are inherent limitations in any risk management and internal control system, this system is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate all the risks that may impede the achievement of the Group’s business objective. Hence, such system by its nature can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement, error, fraud or loss. 

Risk Management System

Key Management staff and Heads of Department are delegated with the responsibility of identifying and managing risks related to their functions/
departments. At the periodic management meetings, such risks identified and related internal controls are communicated to Senior Management. 
Significant risks identified are brought to the attention of the Board at their scheduled meetings. These significant risks and its latest update are 
also brought to the attention of the Board members at their scheduled meetings via the Audit Committee. The Committee is responsible to review 
significant risks identified, measure and monitor risk at satisfactory level.

The Group has put in place a continuous, proactive and systematic control structure and process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
significant and various types of risks pertinent to the achievement of the Group’s overall corporate objectives. The control structure and process 
which has been established throughout the Group is updated and reviewed from time to time to suit the changes in business environment.

Internal Audit Function

The Group Internal Audit Function is outsourced to a professional services firm to provide independent review and assurance of the adequacy 
and integrity of risk management, internal control and governance systems. The cost incurred for the internal audit function for the financial year 
under review was RM66,000. In this respect, the Board through the Audit Committee receives and reviews reports on internal control from its 
internal audit function.

The outsourced professional services firm reports directly to the Audit Committee, which function is to review the Group’s activities based on a 
risk based internal audit plan. The Audit Committee reviewed the internal audit plan before it was recommended for approval by the Board. In 
the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the following business processes audited were:

Entity Audited Business Processes Audited

DWZ Industries Sdn Bhd i)	 Production
ii)	 Procurement
iii)	 Sales & Credit Control and Collection
iv)	 Human Resource Management

Mclean Technologies Berhad i)	 Review of Related Party Transactions

During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, two (2) reviews had been performed by the outsourced professional services firm on the 
operations in Malaysia. Observations from internal audits were discussed with Senior Management and subsequently presented to the Audit 
Committee together with Management’s response and recommendations for improvement for its review at their quarterly Audit Committee 
meetings. In addition, the progress of implementation of the agreed corrective actions by the Senior Management is being monitored by the 
Internal Auditors through follow up reviews. The results of the follow-up reviews were also reported to the Audit Committee.

Although a number of internal control weaknesses were identified, no major weaknesses that have resulted in any material losses, contingencies 
or uncertainties were noted. 

Other Key Elements of Risk Management and Internal Control

The other key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control system are:

a)	 Organisation Structure & Authorisation Procedures

The Group maintains a well defined organisation structure with clear lines of accountability and responsibility to provide a sound 
framework in facilitating proper decision making at the appropriate authority levels of Management including matters that require Board’s 
attention and approval. 

b)	 Monitoring and Review

The daily running of the businesses is entrusted to the Executive Directors and their Management teams. The Executive Directors are 
closely involved in the management of the business and operations of the Group and report to the Board on significant changes in the 
business and external environment, which affect the operations of the Group at large.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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Other Key Elements of Risk Management and Internal Control (cont’d)

c)	 Business Strategic Plan

Any new business opportunity is reviewed diligently by the Board of Directors, taking into consideration the risks of the new business, 
return of investment, cash flow position of the Company, profit guarantee and pay-back period.

d)	R egular Meetings

Management meetings are conducted regularly with the Executive Directors, Senior Management and/or Heads of Department in 
attendance. 

e)	 Periodical and Annual Budget

A comprehensive business planning and budgeting process which establishes plans and targets for the Group, is performed on a periodic 
basis. The business planning process of the Group determines its business objectives, examines the Group’s strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities, threats and key business risks of the Group.

f)	G roup Policies and Procedures

Policies and procedures, handbook, guidelines and authority limits have been established for employees within the Group in respect of 
day-to-day operations.

Certain parts of the Group’s operations are ISO 9001:2000 certified. Periodic ISO audits are conducted by external parties so as to 
ensure compliance with the standards of certification.

g)	R elated Party Transactions

Related party transactions are reviewed and monitored by the Audit Committee and presented to the Board on a periodic basis.

The Group’s system of risk management and internal control applies principally to the Group and its subsidiaries.

Review the Statement by External Auditors

In accordance to Rule 15.23 of the ACE Market Listing Requirement of Bursa Securities, the external auditors have reviewed this Statement for 
inclusion in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and reported to the Board that they do not aware that the 
Statement is inconsistent with their understanding of the process the Board has adopted in the review of the adequacy and integrity of internal 
controls of the Company.

Conclusion

The Board had received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer on 13 April 2017 that the Group’s internal control 
and risk management system are in place for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 and are operating adequately and effectively, in all 
materials aspects, based on the risk management framework adopted by the Company. The Board is of the view that the internal control and 
risk management system is satisfactory and has no material internal control failures nor have any of the reported weaknesses resulted in material 
losses or contingencies during the financial year under review. 

This statement was approved by the Board of Directors on 13 April 2017. 

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The principal objectives of Audit Committee are to assist the Board in discharging its duties and responsibilities in relation to corporate 
governance, internal control systems, management and financial reporting practices of the Company and to ensure proper disclosure to the 
shareholders of the Company.

The Audit Committee was established on 10 November 2010 and its composition complies with the ACE Market Listing Requirements.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng - Independent Non-Executive Director

Members

Dr. Ho Choon Hou - Independent Non-Executive Director

Pang Kong Chek - Independent Non-Executive Director

Yeo Seow Lai - Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Composition

The Committee shall be appointed from amongst the Board and shall comprise no fewer than three (3) members; a majority of whom shall be 
independent directors and all members should be non-executive directors. At least one (1) member must be a member of the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants or possesses such other qualifications and/or experience as approved by the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, a total of five (5) meetings were held and the details of attendance of the Audit Committee 
Members are as follows: -

 Members				N    umber of Meetings Attended

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng	 5/5
Dr. Ho Choon Hou 			   5/5
Pang Kong Chek			   5/5
Yeo Seow Lai				    5/5

The Group’s external auditors, internal auditors and certain designated members of senior management also attended the meetings at the 
invitation of the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall meet with the external auditors on separate sessions without the 
presence of Executive Directors and Management, whenever deemed necessary and at least once a year.

The Audit Committee is guided by its terms of reference, which is available on the Company’s website.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

In 2016, the Audit Committee carried out its duties in accordance with the terms of reference of the Audit Committee. The activities carried out 
by the Audit Committee for financial year ended 31 December 2016 are summarized as follows:

•	 Reviewed the unaudited quarterly results of the Group;
•	 Reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group, focusing particularly on significant changes to accounting policies and practices, 

adjustments arising from the audits, compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;
•	 Reviewed the Company’s process of monitoring potential recurrent related party transactions entered into by the Group;
•	 Reviewed the internal audit plans and adequacy of coverage;
•	 Reviewed the external auditors’ audit plan, nature and scope of the audit plan;
•	 Reviewed the external auditors’ findings arising from audits and in particular, responses, appropriate action taken by Management;
•	 Held private session(s) with the external auditors without the presence of Management or Board;
•	 Reviewed and approved the internal audit reports on the Recurrent Related Party Transactions entered by the Company and its 

subsidiaries prepared by the Internal Auditor;
•	 Reviewed the Audit Committee Terms of Reference; and
•	 Reviewed the Audit Committee Report and the Statement on Risk Management & Internal Control as contained in the Annual Report and 

recommended to the Board for approval.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company recognised that an internal audit function is essential to ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal control and is 
an integral part of the risk management process. The internal audit function for the Group has been outsourced to an external consultant, Audex 
Governance Sdn. Bhd. who will perform an independent review of the Group’s key processes and control system in place. 

The internal audit activities have been carried out according to the internal audit plan that was approved by the Audit Committee. The Board had 
via the Audit Committee evaluated the effectiveness of the outsourcer by reviewing the results of its works in Audit Committee meetings.

The internal audit function shall be independent of the activities or operation it audits and reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Internal 
Auditors assists the Audit Committee in discharging its duties and responsibilities to provide assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the system of internal control by conducting independent, regular and systematic review of the internal control processes in addressing the risks 
identified and that established policies and procedures, applicable laws and regulations are complied with.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION (cont’d)

The Internal Auditor presented a risk based audit plan for the year to the Audit Committee for approval. The audit plan covered the review of the 
adequacy of operational and accounting controls, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, established policies and procedures as well 
as governance processes.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Internal Auditors conducted audits of operations under the various business divisions 
and corporate functions. Key areas covered were:

•	 Sales and Credit Control
•	 Human Resource Management
•	 Cleaning and Service Delivery
•	 Inventory Management
•	 Recurrent Related Party Transactions
•	 Production Management
•	 Procurement Management

The Internal Auditors submits audit reports and the status of the internal audit plan for review and approval by the Audit Committee. Included 
in the reports are recommendations for corrective measures on risks or internal control weaknesses identified, if any, for implementation by 
Management. Internal audit also conducts follow-up work to check that Management has taken actions to correct deficient conditions and 
improve control processes. The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the internal audit activities thereby ensuring that 
these activities contribute to the ongoing effectiveness of the system of internal control.

The Group had incurred a total amount of RM66,000 for the internal audit function for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

This report is made in accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 13 April 2017.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (cont’d)
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION

1. 	 STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors are required by the Companies Act 1965 to prepare financial statements for each year which give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial year and of their results and cash flows for the financial 
year then ended.

The Directors consider that, in preparing the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Company 
has adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently and made judgments and estimates that are prudent 
and reasonable. The Directors also ensured that all applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the 
Companies Act 1965 have been followed and the audited financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records which disclose reasonable accuracy at 
any time on the financial position of the Group and of the Company which enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act 1965.

The Directors have overall responsibility for taking such steps that are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and 
the Company to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

2. 	 NON-AUDIT FEES

There were audit and non-audit fees paid by the Group to the External Auditors and its affiliated company for review of Statement 
on Internal Control and provision of taxation services for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. The details of the fees are as 
follows:- 

Audit Fees paid to:-	 RM
- Auditors of the Company 	 180,000
- Other Auditors	 52,619

Non Audit Fees paid to:-	
- Auditors of the Company	 14,000
- Other Auditors	 -

3. 	 MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Other than the recurrent related party transactions of revenue or trading nature as disclosed under related party disclosures set out in 
Note 30 to the audited financial statements, there were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving 
Directors, chief executive who is not a director or major shareholders’ interests which were still subsisting at the end of the financial year 
or since the end of the previous financial year.

4. 	 RECURRENT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (“RRPT”) OF REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE

At the last Annual General Meeting held on 23 June 2016, the Company had obtained a general mandate from its shareholders to enter 
into RRPT with a person who considered as a Related Party as defined in Rule 10.09 of ACE Market Listing Requirements. Details of the 
RRPT during the for financial year ended 31 December 2016 pursuant to Shareholders’ Mandate are as follows:-

No. 
Name of 
company Transacting party Nature of transactions

Actual Value 
transacted

(RM)

1. DWZ Industries 
Sdn. Bhd. 
(“DWZ”)

Decor Industries 
Pte. Ltd.
(“Decor”)

(i) 	 Provision of surface treatment 
and finishing services by DWZ to 
Decor

(ii) 	 Provision of support services by 
Decor to DWZ

RM6.4 million

RM0.4 million

2. MClean Technologies 
Pte. Ltd.
(“MTPL”)

JCS Technologies Pte. 
Ltd.
(“JCS Tech”)

Provision of technical assembly 
services by MTPL to JCS Tech

Nil

3. MTPL JCS Biotech 
Pte. Ltd. 
(“JCS Biotech”)

Provision of cleanroom packaging 
services by MTPL  
to JCS Biotech

Nil

4. MClean Technologies 
(Wuxi) Co., Ltd
(“MTWCL”)

JCS Biotech Provision of cleanroom packaging 
services by MTWCL to JCS Biotech

Nil
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION (cont’d)

5.	U TILISATION OF PROCEEDS

There were no proceeds raised from corporate proposals during the financial year.

6.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY  

The Group is committed to play its role as a caring corporate citizen. These initiatives undertaken include providing training and 
insurance coverage for all our staff and sponsoring customers’ charity events. MClean has also been supporting The Adventist Nursing 
& Rehabilitation Centre, a registered non-profit voluntary welfare organisation. The Centre believes in provides physiotherapy and 
rehabilitation to all the unfortunate victims of stroke, head and spinal injury following accidents and also all other chronic neuromuscular 
disorders. 
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally an investment holding company. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 6(a) to the financial 
statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities of the Company and its subsidiaries during the financial year.

RESULTS

												            Group	 Company
												            RM	 RM
	
Profit for the financial year				    1,910,268	 2,884,078
	

Attributable to:-			
Owners of the Company					     858,104	 2,884,078
Non-controlling interests					    1,052,164	 -
	

												            1,910,268	 2,884,078
	

DIVIDENDS

There were no dividend proposed, declared or paid by the Company since the end of previous financial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those disclosed in the financial 
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors in office since the date of last report are:-

Yeo Hock Huat (Executive Chairman)  
Lim Han Kiau (Chief Executive Officer)
Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng (Senior Independent Non-Executive Director)
Dr. Ho Choon Hou (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Pang Kong Chek (Independent Non-Executive Director)
Yeo Seow Lai (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the beneficial interests of those who were Directors at the end of the financial year in the 
shares and warrants of the Company and its related corporations were as follows:-

			   Number of ordinary shares of RM0.25 each
										          At 			   At
										          1.1.2016	 Bought	 Sold	 31.12.2016

Interest in the Company
Direct interest	
Yeo Hock Huat						     26,117,000	 -	 -	 26,117,000
Yeo Seow Lai						      600,062	 -	 -	 600,062
Lim Han Kiau						      80,000	 -	 -	 80,000

Indirect interest
Yeo Hock Huat 					     39,748,004	*	 -	 -	 39,748,004
Yeo Seow Lai 						      26,517,000	**	 -	 -	 26,517,000
Lim Han Kiau						      56,845,000	***	 -	 -	 56,845,000

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (CONT’D)

*	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by his siblings, Yeo Seow Lai (600,062 ordinary shares) and Yeo Lian Cheng 
(400,000 ordinary shares) in the Company, and his shareholdings in JCS Group Pte Ltd (38,747,942 ordinary shares) pursuant to Section 
6A of the Companies Act 1965.

**	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by her siblings, Yeo Hock Huat (26,117,000 ordinary shares) and Yeo Lian Cheng 
(400,000 ordinary shares) in the Company.

***	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by his son, Lim Min Han (60,000 ordinary shares), his sibling, Lim Choon Geok 
(407,000 ordinary shares) in the Company, and his indirect shareholdings in Decor Industries Pte Ltd (56,378,000 ordinary shares) pursuant 
to Section 6A of the Companies Act 1965.

			   Number of Warrants 2011/2016
										          At 			   At
										          1.1.2016	 Bought	 Expired	 31.12.2016

Direct interest		 		
Yeo Hock Huat						     12,181,000	 -	 12,181,000	 -
Yeo Seow Lai						      31	 -	 31	 -
Lim Han Kiau						      150,000	 -	 150,000	 -
				  
Indirect interest				  
Yeo Hock Huat 					     21,374,002	*	 -	 21,374,002	 -
Yeo Seow Lai 						      12,181,000	**	 -	 12,181,000	 -

*	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by his sibling, Yeo Seow Lai (31warrants) in the Company and his shareholdings in 
JCS Group Pte Ltd (21,373,971 warrants) pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act 1965.

**	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by her sibling, Yeo Hock Huat (12,181,000 warrants) in the Company.

			   Number of Warrants 2015/2020
										          At 			   At
										          1.1.2016	 Granted	 Exercised	 31.12.2016

Direct interest		 		
Yeo Hock Huat						     68,080	 -	 -	 68,080
Yeo Seow Lai						      144,014	 -	 -	 144,014
Lim Han Kiau						      19,200	 -	 -	 19,200
				  
Indirect interest		  		
Yeo Hock Huat 					     9,539,520	*	 -	 -	 9,539,520
Yeo Seow Lai						         164,080	**	 -	 -	 164,080
Lim Han Kiau 						              112,080	***	 -	 -	 112,080

*	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by his siblings, Yeo Seow Lai (144,014 warrants) and Yeo Lian Cheng (96,000 
warrants) in the Company, and his shareholdings in JCS Group Pte Ltd (9,299,506 warrants) pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act 
1965.

**	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by her sibling, Yeo Hock Huat (68,080 warrants) and Yeo Lian Cheng (96,000 
warrants) in the Company.

***	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings held by his son, Lim Min Han (14,400 warrants) and his sibling, Lim Choon Geok (97,680 
warrants) in the Company.

By virtue of Yeo Hock Huat, Yeo Seow Lai and Lim Han Kiau direct and indirect interest in the shares of the Company, they are also deemed to 
have interest in the shares of all subsidiary companies to the extent that the Company has an interest under Section 6A of the Companies Act 
1965.

Other that the above, no other Directors in office at the end of financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its related corporations 
during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a party, with the object or objects of enabling 
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body 
corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in 
the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in the notes to financial statements) by reason of a 
contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company of 
which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

There were no new issuance of shares and debentures during the financial year.

WARRANTS

The movement of the warrants during the financial year is as follows:-

			   Number of Units
										          At 			   At
										          1.1.2016	 Issued	 Expired	 31.12.2016

Warrants A 2011/2016			   58,700,000	 -	 (58,700,000)	 -
Warrants B 2015/2020			   23,175,996	 -	 -	 23,175,996
	

										          81,875,996	 -	 (58,700,000)	 23,175,996
	

The salient features of the Warrants A 2011/2016 and Warrants B 2015/2020 are disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company 
were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:-

(a)	 to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision for doubtful debts and 
satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business including their values as shown 
in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company have been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to 
realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:-

(a)	 which would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts in financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(b)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading; or

(c) 	 which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the 
Company misleading or inappropriate; or

(d) 	 not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(a)	 any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the liability 
of any other person; or

(b)	 any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year other than as disclosed in 
Note 28 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)



MClean Technologies Berhad (893631 T)32

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)

In the opinion of Directors:- 

(a)	 no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after 
the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet 
their obligations as and when they fall due;

(b)	 the results of operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature; and 

(c)	 there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a 
material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of operations of the Group and of the Company for the current financial 
year in which this report is made.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 

The significant events are disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The Auditors, Messrs SJ Grant Thornton, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

LIM HAN KIAU		  YEO HOCK HUAT

Kuala Lumpur

13 April 2017
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

STATUTORY DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 37 to 85 are drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting 

Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and 

fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and of their financial performance and cash flows 

for the financial year then ended.

In the opinion of the Directors, the information set out in page 85 has been compiled in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, 

Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosures Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 

Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, and presented based on the format prescribed by Bursa Malaysia Securities 

Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

LIM HAN KIAU		  YEO HOCK HUAT

Kuala Lumpur

13 April 2017

I, Loh Weng Yew, being the Officer primarily responsible for the financial management of MClean Technologies Berhad, do solemnly and 

sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the financial statements set out on pages 37 to 85 and the financial information 

set out in page 85 are correct and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the Statutory 

Declarations Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by 	 )

the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in 	 )

the Federal Territory this day of	 )

13 April 2017	 ) 	

                                                                                          		  LOH WENG YEW

                                	       

Before me:

S. ARULSAMY (W.490)

Commissioner for Oaths
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
MCLEAN TECHNOLOGIES BERHAD (Incorporated in Malaysia) Company No: 893631 T

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of MClean Technologies Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 
2016 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 37 to 85.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 
31 December 2016, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial 
Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in 
Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of 
our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recoverability of trade receivables

The risk

Refer to Notes 8 to the financial statements. We focused on this area because the Group has material amount of trade receivables that are past 
due but not impaired amounted to RM6,041,326. The key risk was the recoverability of billed trade receivables as management judgement is 
required in determinacy the completeness of the trade receivable provision and in assessing its adequacy through considering the expected 
recoverability of the year end trade receivables.

Our response

We have obtained an understanding of the Group’s controls relating to credit control and approval process, how the Group identifies and assesses 
the impairment of receivables and how the Group makes the accounting estimates for impairment. We also reviewed the ageing analysis of 
trade receivables and tested the reliability thereof, assessed the recoverability of the overdue receivables by comparing management’s view of 
recoverability of the overdue receivables to the historical patterns of receipts and reviewing receipts subsequent to the financial year end for its 
effect in reducing overdue receivables as at the financial year end.

Furthermore, we have challenged the management’s justification on the sufficiency of impairment on doubtful trade receivables.

Inventory existence and valuations

The risk

Inventories existence and valuation is a significant matter as inventories may be held for long periods of time before consume, making it 
vulnerable to obsolescence, defective or theft. This could result in an overstatement of the value of the inventories if the cost is higher than its 
net realisable value. Furthermore, the assessment and application of inventories obsolescence provisions are subject to significant management 
judgement. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF (cont’d)
MCLEAN TECHNOLOGIES BERHAD (Incorporated in Malaysia) Company No: 893631 T

Key Audit Matters (cont’d)

Inventory existence and valuations (cont’d)

Our response

We have obtained an understanding on how the Group makes the accounting estimates for inventories write-down. We also attended the year-
end physical inventories count to validate counts performed by the Group. Besides that, we also tested a sample of inventories to ensure that 
they were held at the lower of cost and net realisable value and evaluated management judgement with regards to the application of provisions 
to the inventories. 

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprise the information included in the annual 
report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with MFRSs, IFRSs and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for 
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and 
International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit is in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:-

-	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

-	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

-	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by the Directors.

-	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)

-	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

-	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicated with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.

We also provided the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to 
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determined those matters that were of most significant in the audit of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year and are therefore the key audit matters. We described these 
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:-

a)	 In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its Malaysia 
subsidiaries have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

b)	 We have considered the accounts and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not acted as auditors, which are 
indicated in Note 6(a) to the financial statements.

c)	 We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial statements are in form 
and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and we have received 
satisfactory information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

d)	 The audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under Section 174 
(3) of the Act.

Other Reporting Responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 35, page 85 is disclosed to meet the requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and 
is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with 
Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA 
Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

	 SJ GRANT THORNTON	 MOHAMAD HEIZRIN BIN SUKIMAN
	 (NO. AF: 0737)	 (NO.: 03046/05/2019J)
	 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS	 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT

Kuala Lumpur	  
13 April 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF (cont’d)
MCLEAN TECHNOLOGIES BERHAD (Incorporated in Malaysia) Company No: 893631 T
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016									       

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

			   Group	  Company 	
									         Note	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015
										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	

ASSETS	
Non-current assets	

Property, plant and equipment	 4 	  23,284,869 	  24,123,091 	  -  	  - 

Intangible assets				    5 	  - 	  1,728,575 	  -  	  - 

Investment in subsidiaries	 6(a)	  - 	  - 	  21,299,370 	  25,467,644 
	

Total non-current assets			    23,284,869 	  25,851,666 	  21,299,370 	  25,467,644 
	

Current assets	

Inventories						      7 	  800,175 	  731,962 	  -  	  - 

Trade receivables				    8 	  23,235,575 	  27,784,688 	  -  	  - 

Other receivables				    9 	  4,762,953 	  4,215,139 	  1,272,389 	  4,160 

Amount due from subsidiaries	 10 	  - 	  - 	  5,446,620 	  - 

Tax recoverable					      857,881 	  330,936 	  -  	  - 

Deposits with licensed banks	 11 	  485,802 	  2,109,586 	  -  	  - 

Cash and bank balances		 12 	  6,603,482 	  11,277,514 	  333,565 	  1,759,217 
	

Total current assets				     36,745,868 	  46,449,825 	  7,052,574 	  1,763,377 
	

TOTAL ASSETS		  			    60,030,737 	  72,301,491 	  28,351,944 	  27,231,021 
	

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES	

EQUITY	
Equity attributable to owners of the Company	

Share capital					     13 	  44,694,500 	  44,694,500 	  44,694,500 	  44,694,500 

Share premium					    14 	  3,420,082 	  3,420,082 	  3,420,082 	  3,420,082 

Other reserves					     15 	  (21,455,775)	  (15,998,739)	  92,704 	  5,493,104 

Retained earnings/(Accumulated losses)	 16 	  8,136,953 	  1,878,449 	  (20,029,972)	  (28,314,450)
	

										           34,795,760 	  33,994,292 	  28,177,314 	  25,293,236 

Non-controlling interests		 6(d)	  13,955,587 	  14,703,423 	  -  	  - 
	

Total equity			    				    48,751,347 	  48,697,715 	  28,177,314 	  25,293,236 
	

LIABILITIES	

Non-current liabilities	
Deferred tax liabilities			  17	  734,814 	  794,561 	  -  	  - 

Borrowings						      18	  70,823 	  820,971 	  -  	  - 
	

Total non-current liabilities		   805,637 	  1,615,532 	  -  	  - 
	

Current liabilities
Trade payables					    19	  4,903,570 	  14,232,348 	  -  	  - 

Other payables					    20	  3,385,596 	  4,105,330 	  174,630 	  209,357 

Amount due to a subsidiary 	 10	  - 	  - 	  -  	  1,728,100 

Borrowings						      18	  2,184,587 	  3,628,202 	  -  	  - 

Tax payable							       - 	  22,364 	  -  	  328 
	

Total current liabilities				    10,473,753 	  21,988,244 	  174,630 	  1,937,785 
	

Total liabilities						       11,279,390 	  23,603,776 	  174,630 	  1,937,785 
	

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		   60,030,737 	  72,301,491 	  28,351,944 	  27,231,021 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

			   Group	  Company 	
									         Note	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015
										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	

Revenue							      21	  59,340,052 	  57,362,239 	  2,200,000 	  550,000 

									       

Cost of sales						       (44,118,144)	  (50,368,293)	  -  	  - 
	

Gross profit							        15,221,908 	  6,993,946 	  2,200,000 	  550,000 

									       

Other income 						       2,412,939 	  9,333,018 	  5,720,663	  702,986 

									       

Administration expenses			   (12,544,041)	  (11,535,344)	  (826,662)	  (1,133,279)

									       

Selling and distribution expenses		   (750,065)	  (684,606)	  -  	  - 

									       

Other expenses						      (1,476,513)	  (113,532)	  (4,207,298)	  (7,418,448)

									       

Finance costs						       (177,709)	  (205,422)	  -  	  - 
	

Profit/(Loss) before tax		  22	  2,686,519 	  3,788,060 	  2,886,703 	  (7,298,741)

									       

Tax (expenses)/income		  23	  (776,251)	  269,329 	  (2,625)	  (328)
	

Profit/(Loss) for the financial year		   1,910,268 	  4,057,389 	  2,884,078 	  (7,299,069)
	

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Item that will be reclassified 
	 subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign 

	 operations, net of tax			    (56,636)	  1,836,179 	  -  	  - 
	

Other comprehensive income for the financial year, 
	 net of tax						       (56,636)	  1,836,179 	  - 	  - 
	

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the financial year		   1,853,632 	  5,893,568 	  2,884,078 	  (7,299,069)
	

Profit/(Loss) for the financial year attributable to:-
Owners of the Company			    858,104 	  3,577,735 	  2,884,078 	  (7,299,069)

Non-controlling interests			     1,052,164 	  479,654 	  - 	  -
	

										          1,910,268 	  4,057,389 	  2,884,078 	  (7,299,069)
	

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the financial
	 year attributable to:-	
Owners of the Company			   801,468 	  5,413,914 	  2,884,078 	  (7,299,069)

Non-controlling interests			     1,052,164 	  479,654 	  - 	  - 
	

										           1,853,632 	  5,893,568 	  2,884,078 	  (7,299,069)
	

Earnings per share attributable to the 
	 owners (sen)			 
-	 basic							       24	  0.48 	  2.73 
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

	 Non-distributable	 Distributable	

					     Share	 Share 	 Warrant	 Accumulated	

				    Note	 capital	 premium 	 reserve	 losses	 Total

					     RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

Company

	

At 1 January 2015			    29,350,000 	  3,420,082 	  5,400,400 	  (20,922,677)	  17,247,805 

 

Transactions with owners:-

Issuance of ordinary shares arising from 

	 acquisition of subsidiary companies		  13	 14,094,500 	  - 	  - 	  - 	 14,094,500 

Issuance of ordinary shares arising from 

	 conversion of warrants		  13	  1,250,000 	  - 	  (20,000)	 20,000 	  1,250,000 

Issuance of warrants			    - 	  - 	  112,704 	 (112,704)	  - 
	

Total transactions with owners			    15,344,500 	  - 	 92,704 	 (92,704)	  15,344,500 

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year		   - 	  - 	  - 	  (7,299,069) 	 (7,299,069)
	

At 31 December 2015			    44,694,500 	  3,420,082 	  5,493,104 	  (28,314,450)	  25,293,236 

Warrants expired			    - 	  - 	  (5,400,400)	  5,400,400 	  -  

Total comprehensive income

	 for the financial year			    - 	  - 	  - 	  2,884,078 	  2,884,078 
	

At 31 December 2016		   	 44,694,500 	  3,420,082 	  92,704 	  (20,029,972)	  28,177,314 
	

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016	

			   Group	  Company 	
									         Note	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

OPERATING ACTIVITIES	

Profit/(Loss) before tax			    2,686,519 	  3,788,060 	  2,886,703	  (7,298,741)

Adjustments for:-								     

	 Amortisation of intangible assets		   700,731 	  1,061,219 	  - 	  - 

	 Bad debts written off			    198,593 	  - 	  - 	  - 

	 Bad debts recovered			    (138,794)	  - 	  - 	  - 

	 Depreciation					      4,472,636 	  3,435,033 	  - 	  - 

	 Dividend income				     - 	  - 	  (2,200,000)	  (550,000)

	 Excess of net fair value over acquisition cost		   - 	  (7,786,567)	  - 	  - 

	 Impairment on doubtful receivables		   - 	  - 	 18,480 	  4,629,382 

	 Interest expenses		   		  177,709 	  205,422 	  - 	  - 

	 Interest income					     (42,769)	  (48,359)	  (10,743)	  (4,697)

	 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		   (7,904)	  (446)	  - 	  - 

	 Net unrealised gain on foreign exchange		   (310,672)	  (1,061,429)	  (249,996)	  (698,289)

	 Property, plant and equipment written off		   - 	  2,567 	  - 	  - 

	 Reversal of impairment loss on doubtful receivables		   - 	  - 	  (4,193,902)	  - 

	 Intangible asset written off		   989,046 	  - 	  - 	  - 

	 Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary 		   - 	  - 	  4,168,276 	  2,784,043 
	

Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes		   8,725,095 	  (404,500)	  418,818 	  (1,138,302)

Changes in working capital:-

	 Inventories						       (65,775)	  99,411 	  -	  - 

	 Payables							       (10,561,458)	  4,429,322 	  (34,727)	  (85,704)

	 Receivables						      4,845,417 	  (288,705)	  (1,268,229)	  (1,160)
	

Cash generated from/(used in) operations		   2,943,279 	  3,835,528 	  (884,138)	  (1,225,166)

	 Interest paid						      (177,709)	  (205,422)	  -	  - 

	 Tax paid							        (1,385,307)	  (275,002)	  (2,953)	  - 
	

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities		   1,380,263 	  3,355,104 	  (887,091)	  (1,225,166)
	

INVESTING ACTIVITIES	

	 Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired	 6(c)	  - 	  9,186,806 	  (2)	  - 

	 Interest received				     42,769 	  48,359 	  10,743 	  4,697 

	 Purchase of property, plant and equipment	 A	  (3,726,163)	  (1,248,101)	  - 	  - 

	 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 

		  and equipment				    117,513 	  12,118 	  - 	  - 

	 Dividend paid to non-controlling interest		   (1,800,000)	  (450,000)	  - 	  - 

	 Dividend received				     - 	  - 	  2,200,000 	  550,000 
	

Net cash (used in)/from investing activities		   (5,365,881)	  7,549,182 	  2,210,741 	  554,697 
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016	

			   Group	  Company 	
									         Note	 2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 	 Account receivable financing drawndown		   619,780 	  - 	  - 	  - 

	 (Repayment to)/Advances from subsidiaries		   - 	  - 	  (2,749,302)	  1,123,738 

	 Repayment of term loan		   (1,494,012)	  (987,614)	  - 	  - 

 	 Repayment of account receivable financing		   (1,084,615)	  (760,090)	  - 	  - 

 	 Proceeds from issuance of shares		   - 	  1,250,000 	  - 	  1,250,000

 	 Repayment of finance lease liabilities		   (29,171)	  - 	  - 	  - 
	

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities		   (1,988,018)	  (497,704)	  (2,749,302)	  2,373,738 
	

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 							    

	 Net changes		  				    (5,973,636)	  10,406,582 	  (1,425,652)	  1,703,269 

	 Brought forward				     12,974,150 	  2,307,496 	  1,759,217 	  55,948 

	 Effects of exchange translation differences on 

		  cash and cash equivalents		   88,770 	  260,072 	  - 	  - 
	

	 Carried forward				   B	  7,089,284 	  12,974,150 	  333,565 	  1,759,217 
	

NOTE TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

A.  	 PURCHASE OF PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

	 Group

Purchase of property, plant and equipment with aggregate cost of RM3,876,163 (2015: RM1,248,101) of which  RM150,000 (2015: RMNil)  

was acquired by means of finance lease. Cash payment of RM3,726,163 (2015: RM1,248,101) was made to purchase the property, plant 

and equipment.	

B. 	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	 Cash and cash equivalents included in the statements of cash flows comprise the following amounts:-			 

			   Group	  Company 	
										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

Cash and bank balances		   6,603,482 	  11,277,514 	  333,565 	  1,759,217 

Deposits with licensed banks		   485,802 	  2,109,586 	  - 	  - 

Bank overdraft (Note 18)		   - 	  (412,950)	  - 	  - 
	

								         7,089,284 	  12,974,150 	  333,565 	  1,759,217 
	

As disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements, the entire deposits with licensed banks are pledged to the bank for bank guarantee facility 

granted to a subsidiary and hence, are not available for general use.								      

As disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements, deposits amounted to approximately RM323,215 (2015:  RM251,182) are placed as security 

deposit for defective products and hence, are not available for general use.								      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2016
1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION
	

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

The principal place of business of the Company is located at 2, Woodlands Sector 1 #01-22, Singapore 738068. The registered office of 
the Company is located at 10th Floor, Menara Hap Seng, No. 1 & 3, Jalan P. Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur.
	
The Company is principally an investment holding company. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 6(a) to the 
financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities of the Company and its subsidiaries during 
the financial year.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 13 April 
2017.

2. 	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1	 Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

2.2 	 Basis of measurement

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are prepared under historical cost convention, unless otherwise indicated in 
the summary of significant accounting policies. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange 
for goods and services. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, 
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the 
Group and the Company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured on the assumptions that market participants would act in their economic best interest 
when pricing the asset or liability. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group and the Company use valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to their fair value measurement as a whole:-

Level 1 	 - 	 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 	 - 	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to their fair value measurement is directly or indirectly  

   observable.
Level 3 	 - 	 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to  their fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group and the Company determine 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to their fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

The Group and the Company have established control framework in respect of measurement of fair values of financial instruments. 
The Directors has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements. The Directors regularly reviews significant 
unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group and the Company have determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31 DECEMBER 2016
2. 	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

2.3	 Functional and presentation currency

	 The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) which is the Company’s functional currency and all values are rounded 

to the nearest RM except when otherwise stated.

2.4	 MFRSs 

2.4.1	 Adoption of new and revised MFRSs

The Group and the Company have consistently applied the accounting policies set out in Note 3 to the financial statements to all periods 

presented in these financial statements.

At the beginning of the current financial year, the Group and the Company adopted amendments/improvements to MFRSs and IC 

Interpretations which are mandatory for the financial period beginning on or after 1 January 2016.

Initial application of all the relevant new and revised MFRSs and amendments/ improvements to MFRSs and IC Interpretations did not 

have material impact to the financial statements of the Group and of the Company.

2.4.2	 Standards issued but not yet effective  

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) has approved certain new 

standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards which are not yet effective, and have not been early adopted by the 

Group and the Company.

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies for 

the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. The initial application of the relevant new standards, amendments 

and interpretations are not expected to have any material impacts to the financial statements of the Group and of the Company except 

as mentioned below:-

Amendement to MFRS 107 Disclosure initiative

The amendment to MFRS 107 requires entity to provide disclosures on changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including 

changes from cash flows and non-cash changes. The adoption of these amendments is not expected to have any financial impact on the 

Group and the Company.

IC Interpretation 22 Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration

This interpretation addresses how to determine the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on 

initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary 

liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration in a foreign currency.

If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the entity shall determine a date of the transaction for each payment or receipt of 

advance consideration.

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

MFRS 9 replaces MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous version of MFRS 9. The new standard 

introduces extensive requirements and guidance for classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities which fall 

under the scope of MFRS 9, new “expected credit loss model” under the impairment of financial assets and greater flexibility has been 

allowed in hedge accounting transactions. Upon adoption of MFRS 9, financial assets will be measured at either fair value or amortised 

cost. 

This standard will come into effect on or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. Retrospective application is required, but 

comparative information is not compulsory. The adoption of MFRS 9 will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group and the 

Company are currently assessing the financial impact of adopting MFRS 9. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31 DECEMBER 2016
2. 	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

2.4	 MFRSs (cont’d)

2.4.2	 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

MFRS 15 replaces the guidance in MFRS 111, Construction Contracts, MFRS 118, Revenue, IC Interpretation 13, Customer Loyalty 

Programmes, IC Interpretation 15, Agreements for Construction of Real Estate, IC Interpretation 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers 

and IC Interpretation 131, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. Upon adoption of MFRS 15, it is expected that 

the timing of revenue recognition might be different as compared with current practices.

This standard will come into effect on or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. The adoption of MFRS 15 will result in a 

change in accounting policy. The Group and the Company are currently assessing the financial impact of adopting MFRS 15. 

MFRS 16 Leases

MFRS 16 introduces a single accounting model for a lessee and eliminates the distinction between finance lease and operating lease. 

Lessee is now required to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is 

of low value. Upon adoption of MFRS 16, the Group and the Company are required to account for major part of their operating leases in the 

statements of financial position by recognising the “right-of-use” assets and these lease liability, thus increasing the assets and liabilities 

of the Group and the Company. The financial effect arising from this standard is still being assessed by the Group and the Company.

2.5	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

Accounting estimates and judgements are being constantly reviewed against historical experience and other factors, such as expectations 

of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, because of uncertainty in determining future events 

and its impact, actual result could differ from the estimates reported.

	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key assumptions concerning the future and accounting estimates at the reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:-

Useful lives of depreciable assets

The management estimates the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment to be within 1 to 50 years and reviews the useful lives 

of depreciable assets at each reporting date. The management assesses that the useful lives represent the expected utility of the assets 

to the Group. Actual results, however, may vary due to change in the expected level of usage and developments, which resulting in 

adjustment to the Group’s assets.

The management expects that the expected useful lives of the property, plant and equipment would not have material difference from the 

management’s estimation and hence it would not result in material variance in the Group’s profit for the financial year.

Amortisation of intangible assets 

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of 

intangible assets to be within 4 to 5 years. The carrying amount of the Group’s intangible assets as at financial year end is RMNil (2015: 

RM1,728,575). Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the 

residual values of these assets, therefore future amortisation charges could be revised.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In estimating net realisable values, management takes into account 

the most reliable evidence available at the times the estimates are made. The realisation of these inventories may be affected by market-

driven changes that may occur in future.
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2. 	 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

2.5	 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (cont’d)

	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

Impairment of loans and receivable 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. Factors such as 

probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the receivables and default or significant delay in payments are considered in 

determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment. Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing 

of future cash flows are estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. If the expectation 

is different from the estimation, such difference will impact the carrying value of receivables.

Impairment of non-financial assets

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. To determine the recoverable amount, management estimates expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and 

determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. In the process of measuring expected 

future cash flows, management make assumptions about future operating results. The actual results may vary, and may cause significant 

adjustments to the Group’s assets within the next financial year.

In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment to market risk and the appropriate 

adjustment to asset-specific risk factors.

Income taxes

Significant estimation is involved in determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which 

the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group and the Company recognise liabilities for 

expected tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is difference 

from the amounts that were initially recognised, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in 

which such determination is made.

Significant management judgement

The following is significant management judgement in applying the accounting policies of the Group and of the Company that have the 

most significant effect on the financial statements.

Development costs

	

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy in Note 3.3 to the financial statements. Initial capitalisation of 

costs is based on management’s judgement that technological and economical feasibility is confirmed. In determining the amounts to be 

capitalised, management makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash generation of the project, discount rates to be applied 

and the expected period of benefits.

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied to financial statements for the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1	 Consolidation

3.1.1	 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group and the Company. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 

returns from its involvement with the entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entities. In circumstances 

when the voting rights are not more than half or when voting rights are not the dominant determinant of control, the Group uses judgements 

to assess whether it has de facto control, control by other arrangements, or by holding substantive potential voting rights.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.1	 Consolidation (cont’d)

3.1.1	 Subsidiaries (cont’d)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group or the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when control over 

the subsidiary is lost. 

Investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost and/or valuation in the Company’s statement of financial position. Where an indication of 

impairment exists, the carrying amount of the subsidiaries is assessed and written down immediately to their recoverable amount. Upon 

disposal of investment in subsidiaries, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is included in profit or 

loss.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the 

Group’s accounting policies.

3.1.2	 Basis of consolidation

	

The Group’s financial statements consolidate the audited financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries, which have 

been prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have 

been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. The financial statements of the 

Company and its subsidiaries are all drawn up to the same reporting date.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated 

in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Intra-group losses may indicate an impairment that requires recognition in the 

consolidated financial statements.   

Subsidiary are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date that 

control ceases.

Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 

transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 

changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted 

and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

	 Merger method

	

Under the merger method of accounting, the results of subsidiary are presented as if the merger had been effected throughout the current 

and previous years. The assets and liabilities combined are accounted for based on the carrying amounts from the perspective of the 

common control shareholder at the date of transfer. On consolidation, the cost of the merger is cancelled with the values of the shares 

received. Any resulting credit differences is classified as equity and regarded as a non-distributable reserve. Any resulting debit difference 

is adjusted against any suitable reserve. Any share premium, capital redemption reserve and any other reserves which are attributable to 

share capital of the merged entities, to the extent that they have not been capitalised by a debit difference, are reclassified and presented 

as movement in other capital reserves. This is not applicable to Mclean Technologies (Wuxi) Co., Ltd., MClean Technologies (M) Sdn Bhd, 

DWZ Industries Sdn. Bhd. and DWZ Industries (Johor) Sdn. Bhd. which accounted for under acquisition method.

Acquisition method

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, 

measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, 

the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the 

acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses.

3.1.3	 Business combinations and goodwill

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation 

in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the 

separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.1	 Consolidation (cont’d)

3.1.3	 Business combinations and goodwill (cont’d)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date’s fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes 

in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised in accordance with MFRS 

139 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not 

be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within 

the scope of MFRS 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate MFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for 

non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of 

the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 

goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are 

expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 

with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the 

operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion 

of the cash-generating unit retained.

3.1.4	 Loss of control

When the Group ceases to have control of a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities, non-controlling interests and the 

other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising from the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. 

If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 

Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of 

influence retained.

3.1.5	 Non-controlling interests 

Non-controlling interests at the end of the reporting period, being the equity in a subsidiary company not attributable directly or indirectly 

to the equity holders of the Company, are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity 

within equity, separately from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group is 

presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the profit or loss and the 

comprehensive income for the financial year between non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.

Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary company are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if that results 

in a deficit balance.

3.2	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

3.2.1	 Recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss, if any. 

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Dismantlement, 

removal or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal 

or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses 

on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.2	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (cont’d)

3.2.1	 Recognition and measurement (cont’d)

Subsequent expenditure relating to a property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised is added to the carrying amount 

of the property, plant and equipment when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of 

performance of the existing property, plant and equipment, will flow to the enterprise. All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as 

an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

For acquisitions and disposals during the financial year, depreciation is provided from the month of acquisition and to the month before 

disposal respectively. Fully depreciated assets are retained in the books of accounts until they are no longer in use.

3.2.2	 Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are assessed separately 

and if a component has useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately.

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an 

item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset. Leased assets are depreciated over 

the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the 

lease term. 

Depreciation is recognised from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in respect of 

internally constructed assets, from the date the asset is completed and ready to use.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land as it has indefinite life.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed over estimated useful life shown below:-

		  Estimated useful lives

Freehold buildings	 50 years

Computers 	 3 years

Plant and machinery	 3 – 10 years

Office equipment	 1 – 10 years

Motor vehicles 	 10 years

Renovation 	 5 – 10 years

Electrical fittings, furniture and fittings	 5 – 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, and adjusted as appropriate.

3.3	 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are accounted for using the cost model. Capitalised costs are amortised on straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives for those considered as finite useful lives. After initial recognition, they are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

accumulated impairment losses, if any. In addition, they are subject to annual impairment testing and write down immediately to their 

recoverable amount where an indication of impairment exists, in accordance with MFRS 136. Indefinite life intangibles are not amortised 

but are subject to annual impairment testing.

Intangible assets are written off where, on the opinion of the Directors, no further future economic benefits are expected to arise.

Customers list

Costs relating to purchased cleanroom assembly services customers list are capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over their 

useful life of 4 years.
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3.3	 Intangible assets (cont’d)

Development cost

Development cost relates to the development of new cleaning techniques to penetrate new customers.

Development cost is expensed in the period in which they are incurred except when the costs incurred on development project are 

recognised as development cost to the extent that such expenditure is expected to generate future economic benefits.

Development cost initially recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in subsequent period.

Capitalised development cost are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use, on a 

systematic basis over their expected useful lives, not exceeding 5 years.

Clean bulk pack development cost

Development cost arising from development expenditure on an individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group 

can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to 

complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to 

complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Deferred development costs that have a finite useful 

life are amortised over the period of expected sales from the related project on a straight line basis. Amortisation of clean bulk pack 

development costs over their expected useful lives, not exceeding 5 years.

3.4	 Related parties 

	

	 A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group and to the Company and they could be:-

(a) 	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:-

(i)	 Has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) 	 Has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 Is a member of the key management personnel of the Company, or the Group, and

(b) 	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:-

(i)   	 The entity and the Group are members of the same group.

(ii)  	 The entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group.

(iii) 	 Both the Group and the entity are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) 	 The Group is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the same third entity.

(v)  	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefits of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the 

Group.

(vi) 	 The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person identified in (a) above.

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) above has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management personnel of 

the entity.

(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a party, provides key management personnel services to the Group.

	 A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Group and its related party, regardless of whether 

a price is charged.

3.5	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of consumables is determined using the weighted average method 

which include direct materials and appropriate proportion of overheads.

Provision is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventories in arriving at the net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less selling and distribution costs and all other estimated costs necessary to 

make the sale.	



MClean Technologies Berhad (893631 T)52

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31 DECEMBER 2016
3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.6	 Financial instruments  

	

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, financial assets and financial 

liabilities. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policy statements associated with each item. 

3.7	 Financial assets

Financial assets, other than hedging instruments, can be divided into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets are assigned 
to the different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 
The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated and classification may be changed at the reporting date with the exception that the 
designation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is not revocable.

	 All financial assets are recognised on their trade date – the date on which the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the 
asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair values, plus directly attributable transaction costs except for financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value.

	 Derecognition of financial instruments occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments expire or are transferred and 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. An assessment for impairment is undertaken at least at each 
reporting date whether or not there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

	 Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets included in this category are measured at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

	 The Group and the Company do not have any investments and accordingly, there are no investments to be classified at fair value through 
profit and loss, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale financial assets.

Loans and receivables

	 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
They arise when the Group and the Company provide money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the 
receivables. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified 
as non-current.

	 Loan and receivables include trade and other receivables, related party balances and bank deposits. They are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. If there is objective evidence that the assets have been 
impaired, the financial assets are measured at the present value to the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at the 
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. The 
impairment or write back is recognised in the profit of loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a 
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3.8	 Cash and cash equivalents

	 Cash and cash equivalents comprised of cash on hand, bank balances, short term demand deposits, fixed deposits, bank overdrafts and 
short term placements which are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

	 Bank overdrafts are shown in current liabilities in the statements of financial position. For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledge deposits.
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3.9	 Financial liabilities

	 The Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables, borrowings and related party balances. 

	 Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual agreements of the instrument. All 

interest-related charges are recognised as an expense in “finance costs” in the profit or loss, if any. Financial liabilities are derecognised 

if the Group’s and Company’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

	 Trade and other payables and related party balances are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, 

using the effective interest method.

3.10	 Leases

	 Operating leases

	 Leases, where the Group does not assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases.

				  

	 Where the Group is the lessee

	 Rentals on operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentive, if any, are 

recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset. Penalty payments on early termination, if 

any, are recognised in the profit or loss when incurred.

	 Where the Group is lessor

	 Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term.

3.11	 Provisions 

Provision are recognised if, as a result of past event, the Group and the Company have a present legal or constructive obligation that 

can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are 

determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow 

of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.

3.12	 Income taxes 

Income tax comprises of current tax and deferred tax but exclude taxes arising from business combinations and items recognised directly 

in equity or other comprehensive income. Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the profit or loss.

3.12.1	 Current tax 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Tax payable (recoverable) for current and 

prior periods is recognised as liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

3.12.2	 Deferred tax 

Deferred tax are provided for under liability method in respect of temporary differences between carrying amount of an asset or liability 

in the statement of financial position and its tax base at reporting date. However, deferred tax on temporary difference arising from the 

initial recognition of goodwill and initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination is not 

recognised because they affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
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3.12	 Income taxes (cont’d)

3.12.2	 Deferred tax (cont’d)

The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group and the Company 
expect, at the end of reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences, unused tax credit and tax carried forward losses can be utilised. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at 
each reporting date. If it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to offset against part or the entire deferred tax 
asset, the carrying amount of the deferred tax asset will be reduced accordingly. When it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available, such reductions will be reversed to the extent of the taxable profit.
	
Unutilised reinvestment allowance and investment tax allowance, being tax incentives that is not a tax base of an asset, is recognised 
as deferred tax asset to the extent that it is probable that the future taxable profits will be available to offset against the unutilised tax 
incentive credit.

3.12.3	 Direct tax

Value-added tax (“VAT”) and Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) are consumption tax based on value-added concept. VAT and GST 
are imposed on goods and services at every production and distribution stage in the supply chain including importation of goods and 
services. 

The Group’s and the Company’s domestic sale of goods in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), Singapore and Malaysia are 
subjected to VAT and GST at the applicable tax rate of 17%, 7% and 6% respectively. Input tax on purchases can be deducted from 
output VAT/GST. 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of amount of VAT/GST except:

•	 where the taxes incurred on the purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the 
taxes is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of taxes included.

The net amount of VAT/GST recoverable from, or payable to, the authority is included as part of “other receivables” or “other payables” 
in the statements of financial position.

3.13	 Employee benefits

3.13.1	 Short term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as expenses in the year in which the associated services are 
rendered by employees of the Group and of the Company. Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave 
are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences, and short 
term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur.

A provision is made for the estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

3.13.2	 Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group and the Company pay fixed contributions into 
independent entities of funds and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contribution if any of the funds do not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee services in the current and preceding financial year.	

Such contributions are recognised as expenses in the profit or loss as incurred. As required by law, companies in Malaysia make such 
contributions to the Employee Provident Fund (“EPF”).  Some of the Group’s foreign subsidiary companies also make contributions to 
their respective countries’ statutory pension schemes.		

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as expenses in the profit or loss as incurred.
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3.13	 Employee benefits (cont’d)

3.13.3	 Key management personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 

of the Group either directly or indirectly. Directors are considered as key management personnel. 

3.13.4	 Retirement benefits scheme

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of PRC government, the Group participates in a local municipal government retirement benefits 

scheme (the “Scheme”), whereby the Group is required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees to the 

Scheme to fund their retirement benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations 

of all existing and future retired employees of the Group. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the Scheme is to pay the 

ongoing required contributions under the Scheme mentioned above. Contributions under the Scheme are charged to the profit or loss as 

incurred. There is no provision under the Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used to reduce future contributions.

3.14	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset be impaired.

Trade and other receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial asset has been incurred, the Group and the 

Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the receivables and default or 

significant delay in payments. For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets not impaired individually are 

subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for a 

portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s and the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number 

of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions 

that correlate with default on receivables.

If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate and the impairment loss is 

recognised in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of 

receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When a receivable becomes uncollectible, 

it is written off against the allowance account.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease related objectively to an event occurring after 

the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset 

does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.  The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

3.15	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and of the Company’s non-financial assets subject to impairment are reviewed at the end of each 

reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 

is estimated.  

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 

to which the assets belong will be identified.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 

(cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit 

level.  
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.15	 Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs to sell and value-in-use, based on 

an internal discounted cash flow evaluation. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 

recognised may no longer exist. 

Any impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it is charged to equity. 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount or when there is 

an indication that the impairment loss recognised for the asset no longer exists or decreases.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised.

3.16	 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue can be 

reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer. 

Revenue is not recognised to the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated 

costs or the possible return of goods.

Revenue from sale of modules relating to technical assembly services is recognised when the Group has installed the parts into the 

customers’ machines or has delivered the modules to location specified by its customers and the customers have accepted the parts in 

accordance with the service agreements.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised when services are rendered and accepted by customers. 

Interest income is recognised on a time-apportioned basis using the effective interest method. 

Dividend income and other income from investments are recognised in profit or loss when right to receive payment is established.

3.17	 Conversion of foreign currencies 

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at rates of exchange closely approximating 

those ruling at reporting date. Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at rates closely approximating those ruling at transaction 

dates. Exchange differences arising from such transactions are recorded in the profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at 

the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated at year-end exchange rates with respect to assets and liabilities. All resulting 

translation differences are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve in shareholders’ equity. Operating results are translated to RM at 

average exchange rates during the financial year.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the cumulative amount of exchange differences deferred in equity relating to that foreign entity is 

recognised in profit or loss as a component of gain or loss on disposal. All other foreign exchange differences are taken to the profit or 

loss in the financial year in which they arise. 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

3.18	 Statutory reserve
		
In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC, the subsidiary companies established in the PRC are required to 
transfer 10% of its profit after tax prepared in accordance with the accounting regulation of the PRC to the statutory reserve until the 
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital of the subsidiaries in PRC. Such reserve may be used to offset accumulated 
losses or increase the registered capital of the subsidiaries in PRC, subject to the approval from the PRC authorities, and are not 
available for dividend distribution to the shareholders.

3.19	 Warrant reserve
		
The fair value of the warrants arising from the issuance of warrants, net of issue costs, are credited to warrant reserve which is non-
distributable. Warrant reserve is transferred to the accumulated losses upon the exercise of warrants and the warrant reserve in relation 
to the unexercised warrants at the expiry of the warrants will be transferred to accumulated losses.

3.20	 Contingencies

Where it is not probable that an inflow or an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, 
the asset or the obligation is not recognised in the statement of financial position and is disclosed as a contingent asset or contingent 
liability, unless the probability of inflow or outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent assets or contingent 
liabilities unless the probability of inflow or outflow of economic benefits is remote.

3.21	 Equity instruments

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. Ordinary shares are equity instruments and they are 
contracts evidencing residual interest in the assets of the Group and of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities.  

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares 
are deducted from share premium, net of any related income tax benefit. 

Revaluation reserve within equity comprises gains resulting from revaluation of property, plant and equipment and revaluation of 
investment in subsidiaries. 

Exchange fluctuation reserve consists of foreign currency translation differences arising from the translation of the Group’s net investment 
in foreign entities. 

Unappropriated profits include current and prior period unappropriated profits.

All transactions with owners of the Company are recorded separately within equity.

3.22	 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services which are independently 
managed by respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment 
managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to 
the segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 29 to the 
financial statements, including factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

3.23	 Intersegment transfers

Segment revenues, expenses and result include transfers between segments. The prices charged on intersegment transactions are on 
negotiated basis. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation. 

3.24	 Dividends

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the articles of association of the Company grant the Directors 
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised directly as a liability when they are proposed 
and declared.
		
Final dividends proposed by the Directors are not accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings, until 
they have been approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and 
declared, they are recognised as a liability.
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5.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

						      Group

					     		  Clean 

							       bulk pack

					     Development 	 Customers	 development

					     cost	 list	 cost	 Total

					     RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Cost

At 1 January 2015		  1,711,849	 849,105	 2,185,350	 4,746,304

Currency translation differences		  272,117	 128,649	 331,104	 731,870
	

At 31 December 2015		  1,983,966	 977,754	 2,516,454	 5,478,174

Written off		  -	 (960,720)	 (2,472,614)	 (3,433,334)

Currency translation differences		  (48,452)	 (17,034)	 (43,840)	 (109,326)
	

At 31 December 2016		  1,935,514	 -	 -	 1,935,514
	

Accumulated amortisation

At 1 January 2015		  1,198,291	 619,182	 437,072	 2,254,545

Amortisation during the financial year		  369,119	 226,263	 465,837	 1,061,219

Currency translation differences		  218,158	 112,004	 103,673	 433,835
	

At 31 December 2015		  1,785,568	 957,449	 1,006,582	 3,749,599

Amortisation during the financial year		  186,257	 19,951	 494,523	 700,731

Written off		  -	 (960,719)	 (1,483,569)	 (2,444,288)

Currency translation differences		  (36,311)	 (16,681)	 (17,536)	 (70,528)
	

At 31 December 2016		  1,935,514	 -	 -	 1,935,514
	

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2016		  -	 -	 -	 -
	

At 31 December 2015		  198,398	 20,305	 1,509,872	 1,728,575
	

6.	 SUBSIDIARIES

				    Company

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM
	

 Unquoted shares, at cost 				    44,286,500	 44,286,498

 Less: Impairment losses				    (22,987,130)	 (18,818,854)
	

										          21,299,370	 25,467,644
	



ANNUAL REPORT 2016 61

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
31 DECEMBER 2016
6.	 SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

	 (a)	 The particulars of the subsidiary companies are as follows:-

	 % effective equity 		  Country of

 Name of companies 	 interest 		  Principal activities	 incorporation

	 2016	  2015	

*	 MClean Advance Carrier 	 100	 100	 Investment holding. 	 Singapore
		  Pte. Ltd. (“MAC”) 
		  (formerly known as Techsin 
		  Technologies (S) Pte. Ltd.) 	
	
*	 Magnetronics Technology 	 100	 100	 Investment holding.	 Singapore
		  Pte Ltd (“Magnetronics”)	  

DWZ Industries Sdn. Bhd. 	 55	 55	 Provide surface finishing of metal parts for 	 Malaysia
	 (“DWZ”)				    electrical and electronic industries.

MClean Technologies (M) Sdn. Bhd.	 100	 -	 Dormant. 	 Malaysia
	
Held by DWZ

DWZ Industries (Johor)	 55	 55	 Provide surface finishing of metal parts for 	 Malaysia
	 Sdn. Bhd. (“DWZ Johor”)				    electrical and electronic industries.

Held by Magnetronics

#*	MClean Technologies Pte. Ltd. 	 100	 100	 Provide precision cleaning, cleanroom 	 Singapore
		  (“MClean Singapore”)				    assembly services, other related 
							       services mainly to hard disk industry 
							       and sales of modules relating to 
							       technical assembly services. 

Held by MClean Singapore

#*	MClean Technologies (Wuxi) 	 100	 100	 provide precision cleaning, cleanroom	 People’s
		  Co., Ltd (“Mclean Wuxi”)				    assembly  services, clean bulk packing 	 Republic
							       services and related services. 	 of China
	
*	 Audited by a firm other than SJ Grant Thornton.
	
#	 Component audit has been carried out by SJ Grant Thornton for the purposes of enabling to form a group opinion.

(b)	 Internal restructuring

On 11 July 2016, MAC has entered into a share sale agreement with MClean Singapore to carry out an internal group restructuring. 
Upon completion, Mclean Wuxi has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of MClean Singapore from MAC.

(c)	 Acquisition of subsidiaries

2016

On 20 June 2016, the Company had completed the acquisition of 100% equity interest in MClean Technologies (M) Sdn. Bhd. for 
a total cash consideration of RM2.00. 

The net assets of MClean Technologies (M) Sdn. Bhd. as at the date of acquisition is the same as the cash consideration.

2015

On 8 October 2015, the Company had completed the acquisition of 55% equity interest in DWZ and its wholly owned subsidiary, 
DWZ Johor (“DWZ Group”) for a purchase consideration of RM14,094,500 satisfied via the issuance of 56,378,000 new ordinary 
shares of RM0.25 each in the Company at an issue price of RM0.25.	
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6.	 SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
	

(c)	 Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

	 2015 (cont’d)

Impact of the acquisition on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

From the date of acquisition, DWZ Group has contributed RM5,658,625 and RM1,065,897 to the Group’s revenue and profit after 
tax respectively. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the financial year, the Group’s revenue and profit after tax 
would have been increased by RM18,380,025 and RM2,753,533 respectively.

Acquisition related costs

The Group incurred acquisition related cost of RM369,585 on legal fees and due diligence fees. These costs have been included 
as administration expenses.

The fair value of purchase consideration is derived based on the following:-

									         After fair

									         value

								        At cost	  adjustment

								        RM	 RM
	
56,378,000 ordinary shares issued				    14,094,500	 10,148,040
	

For the purpose of computing the fair value of the purchase consideration, a fair value of RM0.18 per share (being the published 
price of share on 8 October 2015) is allocated to the 56,378,000 ordinary shares issued.

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of DWZ Group as at the date of acquisition were:-

									         2015

									         RM
	
Non-current asset
Property, plant and equipment					     15,581,857
	

Current assets
Inventories						      603,970
Trade and other receivables					     13,695,366
Tax recoverable					     53,735
Cash and bank balances					     9,186,806
	

Total current assets					     23,539,877
	

Total assets 					     39,121,734
	

Non-current liabilities 			 
Deferred tax liabilities					     (1,084,094)
Borrowings						      (139,924)
	

Total non-current liabilities					     (1,224,018)
	

Current liabilities			 
Trade and other payables					     (4,436,907)
Borrowings						      (852,433)
	

Total current liabilities					     (5,289,340)
	

Total liabilities 					     (6,513,358)
	

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired					     32,608,376
	

Cash inflow on the acquisition of subsidiary					     9,186,806
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6.	 SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)
	

(c)	 Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

	 2015 (cont’d)

Excess of net fair value over acquisition cost

Excess of net fair value over acquisition cost was recognised as a result of the acquisition as follows:-

									         2015
									         RM

Fair value of consideration transferred					     10,148,040
Fair value of identifiable assets acquired					     (32,608,376)
Non-controlling interests, based on their proportionate interest in the 
	 recognised amounts of the assets and liabilities of the acquiree				    14,673,769
	

Excess of net fair value over acquisition cost					     (7,786,567)
	

(d)	 Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries

The Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are as follows:-

				    DWZ Group
												            2016	 2015
												            RM	 RM

		  Percentage of ownership interest and voting interest (%)			   45%	 45%
			 
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest (RM)				    13,955,587	 14,703,423

	

Profit allocated to non-controlling interests (RM)				    1,052,164	 479,654
	

The summary of financial information before intra-group elimination for the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-controlling 
interests is as below:-

				    DWZ Group
												            2016	 2015
												            RM	 RM

Summary of financial position 			 
Non-current assets				    15,121,874	 15,327,142
Current assets				    19,274,074	 24,005,954
Non-current liabilities				    (805,637)	 (1,615,532)
Current liabilities				    (2,577,896)	 (5,043,291)

	

Net assets					     31,012,415	 32,674,273
	

Summary of financial performance 
Profit/Total comprehensive income for the financial year			   2,338,142	 3,819,430

	

Included in the total comprehensive income is:			 
Revenue						     22,437,141	 24,038,650

	

Summary of cash flows 			 
Net cash inflow from operating activities				    379,511	 1,272,839
Net cash outflow used in investing activities				      (1,191,684)	 (668,134)
Net cash outflow used in financing activities				    (5,123,911)	 (1,363,154)

	

Net cash outflow				    (5,936,084)	 (758,449)
	

Other information			 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests				    1,800,000	 450,000
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6.	 SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

(e)	 Significant restrictions

Cash and bank balances of RM2,102,341 (2015: RM1,791,273) are held in the People’s Republic of China and are subject to 
local exchange control regulations. These local exchange control regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital from the 
country, other than through normal dividends.

(f)	 Investment in subsidiaries that are impaired at reporting date related to those subsidiaries that are having net assets lower than cost 
of investment.

7.	 INVENTORIES

				    Group
												            2016	 2015
												            RM	 RM
	

Consumable goods				    800,175	 731,962
	

8.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

(a)	 The normal trade credit terms granted by the Group to the trade receivables ranging from 30 to 90 days (2015: 30 to 90 days). The 
Group determines concentration of credit risk by comparing the amount due from each individual customer against the total trade 
receivables. 

(b)	 The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s trade receivables as at the reporting date are as follows:-

				    Group 
			   2016	  2015 
										          RM	 %	 RM	 %
	

		  Top 3 customers		  12,995,881	 56	 14,639,054	 53
	

(c) 	 The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group are as follows:-

												            2016	 2015
												            RM	 RM
	

Within credit terms				    17,194,249	 19,591,967
Past due 1-30 days but  not impaired				    3,496,028	 4,307,702
Past due 31-60 days but not impaired				    921,825	 1,131,135
Past due more than 60 days and not impaired				    1,623,473	 2,753,884

	

Total trade receivables 				    23,235,575	 27,784,688
	

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are due from creditworthy customers with good payment records with 
the Group. None of the Company’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the 
financial year.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group have trade receivables amounting to RM6,041,326 (2015: RM8,192,721) that are past due as at the reporting date but 
not impaired. The Directors are of the opinion that the receivables are collectible in view of long term business relationships with the 

customers. These receivables are unsecured.
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8.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

(c) 	 The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group are as follows (cont’d):-

Receivables that are impaired

There are no trade receivables of the Group that are impaired.

(d)	 Currency exposure profile of trade receivables denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currency of the 

Group’s entities is as follows:-

	

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Singapore Dollar (“SGD”)				    176,606	 6,947,959

US Dollar (“USD”)				    3,861,987	 2,527,991
	

(e)	 Included in trade receivables of the Group is an amount of RMNil (2015: RM6,839,235) due from related parties. The said amount 

bears no interest and repayable on demand.

	 Included in trade receivables of the Group is an amount of RM7,456,542 (2015: RM5,977,050) due from a corporate shareholder. 

The said amount bears no interest and repayable on demand.

9.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES

			   Group	  Company 

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Non-trade receivables		  2,501,522	 2,787,254	 1,266,022	 -

Deposits						     974,716	 1,037,228	 -	 -

Deposit for purchase of property, plant and equipment 		  645,465	 -	 -	 -

Prepayment					    519,305	 321,981	 6,367	 4,160

Small and medium entity tax incentive receivable		  44,410	 52,662	 -	 -

GST/VAT receivables		  77,535	 16,014	 -	 -
	

								        4,762,953	 4,215,139	 1,272,389	 4,160
	

Included in non-trade receivables is an amount due from Impax Technology Wuxi Co., Ltd. amounted to RMNil (2015: RM1,157,348) for 

the disposal of the discontinued operation in 2013.

Included in non-trade receivables is an amount due from a corporate shareholder amounted to RM1,266,022 (2015: RMNil) which is 

unsecured, bears no interest and repayable on demand.

Currency exposure profile of other receivables denominated in currency other than the respective functional currency of the Group’s 

entities is as follows:-

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

			 

Renminbi (“RMB”)					     121,821	 -
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10.	 AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES 

(i)	  The amount due from subsidiaries is non-trade related, unsecured, bears no interest and repayable on demand:-  

	

				    Company

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Amount due from subsidiaries 				    5,900,580	 4,629,382
	

Less: Impairment loss			 

Brought forward				    4,629,382	 -

Charge for the financial year				    18,480	 (4,193,902)

Reversal of impairment loss				    4,629,382	 -
	

Carried forward				    453,960	 4,629,382
	

Net							       5,446,620	 -
	

(ii)	 Impairment loss of RM18,840 (2015: RM4,629,382) has been made due to the subsidiary had insufficient net assets.

	 Impairment loss on doubtful receivable was reversed during the financial year due to the subsidiary’s net assets is able to support 

the amount.  

(iii)	 Currency exposure profile of amount due from subsidiaries denominated in currencies other than functional currency of the 

subsidiary is as follows:-

				    Company

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

USD							       4,371,868	 -

SGD							       -	 (1,728,100)
	

11.	 DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

The entire deposits with licensed banks of the Group are pledged as a security for bank guarantee facility granted to a subsidiary and out 

of these deposits, an amount of RM482,527 (2015: RM467,114) is held in trust in the name of a Director of the Company and a Director 

of that subsidiary.

The average effective interest rate per annum for deposits with licensed banks of the Group ranging from 2.90% - 3.30%  

(2015: 3.00% - 3.30%). 

12.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

Currency exposure profile of cash and bank balances denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currency of the 

Group’s entities is as follows:-

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

		  USD									         1,209,533	 3,716,111

		  SGD									         9,925	 -
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12.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONT’D)

	 Group 

Included in the cash and bank balances, there is an amount of approximately RM323,215 (2015: RM251,812) which serves as security 

deposit for defective products. 

Included in the cash and bank balances, there is an amount denominated in RMB of RM2,102,341 (2015: RM1,791,273). The RMB is not 

freely convertible into foreign currencies. Under the People’s Republic of China Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration 

of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies 

through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

13.	 SHARE CAPITAL

			   Group and Company

			   2016	 2015

										          No. of 		  No. of

										          shares	 RM	 shares	 RM

Authorised:-							    

Ordinary shares of RM0.25 each

At 1 January/31 December		  400,000,000	 100,000,000	 400,000,000	 100,000,000
	

Issued and fully paid up:-

Ordinary shares of RM0.25 each

At 1 January					    178,778,000	 44,694,500	 117,400,000	 29,350,000

Conversion of warrants		  -	 -	 5,000,000	 1,250,000

Issued during the financial year		  -	 -	 56,378,000	 14,094,500
	

At 31 December			   178,778,000	 44,694,500	 178,778,000	 44,694,500
	

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one vote 

per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual value.

14.	 SHARE PREMIUM

	

Share premium represents the excess of the consideration received over the nominal value of shares issued by the Company. It is not to 

be distributed by way of cash dividends and its utilisation shall be in the manner as set out in Section 60(3) of the Companies Act 1965.

15.	 OTHER RESERVES

			   Group	  Company 

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Warrant reserve			   92,704	 5,493,104	 92,704	 5,493,104

Currency fluctuation reserve 		  4,644,237	 4,700,873	 -	 -

Merger deficit				    (22,246,256)	 (22,246,256)	 -	 -

Other reserve				    (3,946,460)	 (3,946,460)	 -	 -
	

								        (21,455,775)	 (15,998,739)	 92,704	 5,493,104
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	 Warrant reserve

Warrants A 2011/2016

On 12 October 2010 and 10 May 2011, the Company issued 58,700,000 Warrants A pursuant to the followings:-

 

(a)	 Acquisition of the entire issued and paid-up share capital of Magnetronics for a total purchase consideration of RM18,351,998 

which was wholly satisfied through the issuance of 61,999,992 new MClean Shares and the issuance of 30,999,996 warrants at an 

exercise price of RM0.52 each.

(b)	 Acquisition of the entire issued and paid-up share capital of MAC for a total consideration of RM11,840,000 which was wholly 

satisfied through the issuance of 40,000,000 new MClean Shares and issuance of 20,000,004 warrants at an exercise price of 

RM0.52 each.

(c)	 Issuance of 15,400,000 new MClean Shares with 7,700,000 Free Warrants allotted on the basis of one (1) Free Warrants for every 

two (2) New MClean Shares at an issue price of RM0.52 per MClean Share.

(d)	 The Warrants A 2011/2016 may be exercised at anytime for a period of five years commencing from 10 May 2011 until 9 May 2016 

(“exercise period”). The warrants 2011/2016 that are not exercised during the exercise period will thereafter lapse and become 

void.

(e)	 On 9 May 2016, the warrants issued by the Company had expired and no warrants being exercised during the exercise period. 

Warrants B 2015/2020

On 15 October 2015, the Company issued 28,175,996 Warrants B on the basis of six free warrants for every twenty five units of ordinary 

shares.

The main features of the warrants are as follows:-

							       Tenure	 Issue	 Expiry	 Exercise

							       (years)	 Date	 date	 Price (RM)

Warrants A 2011/2016	 5	 12 October 2010	 9 May 2016	 0.52

								        and 10 May 2011

Warrants B 2015/2020	 5	 15 October 2015	 7 October 2020	 0.25

The warrants may be exercised at any time during the tenure of the warrants of five (5) years including and commencing from the issue 

date of the warrants and ending on the expiry date. Each warrant carries the entitlement to subscribe for one (1) new ordinary share of 

RM0.25 each in the Company at the exercise prices stated above and shall be satisfied fully in cash and shall be subject to adjustments 

in accordance with the respective Deed Polls.

Subject to the provision in the respective Deed Polls, the exercise price and the number of warrants held by each warrant holder shall be 

adjusted by the Board of Directors of the Company in consultation with the adviser and certification of the external auditors, in the event 

of alteration to the share capital of the Company.

The theoretical fair value of the warrants was computed using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model at approximately RM0.092 per 

Warrants A and RM0.004 per Warrants B.

The fair value allocated to the warrants reserve is derived by adjusting the proceeds of the above issuance to the fair value of the shares 

and warrants on a proportionate basis.
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	 Warrant reserve (cont’d)

Warrants B 2015/2020 (cont’d)

The movement of the warrants during the financial year is as follows:-

									         Warrants A 	 Warrants B

									         2011/2016	 2015/2020	 Total

									         Units	 Units	 Units

At 1 January 2016				    58,700,000	 23,175,996	 81,875,996

Expired							       (58,700,000)	 -	 (58,700,000)
	

At 31 December 2016			   -	 23,175,996	 23,175,996
	

At 1 January 2015				    58,700,000	 -	 58,700,000

Issued							       -	 28,175,996	 28,175,996

Exercised						      -	 (5,000,000)	 (5,000,000)
	

At 31 December 2015			   58,700,000	 23,175,996	 81,875,996
	

Currency fluctuation reserve

The currency fluctuation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 

operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation currency.

	

Merger deficit

The merger deficit arises from the difference between the purchase consideration and the carrying value of the share capital acquired 

under the pooling-of-interests method of consolidation. 

Other reserve 

Other reserve relates to fair value adjustment to the shares issued for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

16.	 RETAINED EARNINGS/(ACCUMULATED LOSSES)

The Company adopt the Single Tier Income Tax System in which the Company may declare the payment of the dividends out of its entire 

retained earnings.

17.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

			   Group

										          2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM

	

At 1 January							      794,561	 -

Addition through acquisition of subsidiary companies				    -	 1,084,094

Transfer to profit or loss (Note 23)				    (59,747)	 (289,533)
	

At 31 December					     734,814	 794,561
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	 The balance in the deferred tax liabilities is made up of temporary differences arising from:- 

			   Group

										          2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM

	

Carrying amount of qualifying property, plant and equipment in excess of their tax base		  734,814	 794,561
	

18.	 BORROWINGS 

			   Group

										          2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM

	

Current			 

Secured:-			 

Account receivable financing				    2,134,581	 2,551,939

Bank overdraft						      -	 412,950

Term loans							       -	 663,313

Finance lease liabilities				    50,006	 -
	

										          2,184,587	 3,628,202
	

Non-current			

Secured:-			 

Term loans			 

- 	 between 2 to 5 years				    -	 631,139

- 	 more than 5 years				    -	 189,832

Finance lease liabilities			 

- 	 between 2 to 5 years				    70,823	 -
	

										          70,823	 820,971
	

Total borrowings					     2,255,410	 4,449,173
	

Minimum lease payment			 

- 	 within 1 year						     55,032	 -

- 	 after 1 year but not later 5 year				    77,941	 -
	

										          132,973	 -

 Less: Interest in suspense				    (12,144)	 -
	

										          120,829	 -
	

The Account Receivable Financing is charged at an effective interest rate of approximately 3.75% (2015: 3.75%) per annum.

The bank overdraft is charged at an effective interest rate of 6.25% (2015: 6.25%) per annum.

The term loans are charged at effective interest rates ranging from 3.80% - 4.60% (2015: 3.27% - 4.60%) per annum and are repayable 

from 36 - 120 monthly installments (2015: 36 - 120 monthly installments).
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18.	 BORROWINGS (CONT’D)

The finance lease liabilities are charged at an effective interest rate of 3.35% (2015: Nil) per annum.

The banking facilities of the Group are secured against the following:-

				  

a)	 Corporate guarantee of SGD3,028,000 (approximately RM9,000,000) (2015: SGD3,028,000 or approximately RM9,000,000).

b)	 First floating charge over the receivables of MClean Singapore.

c)	 Two units of 1 ½ storey semi-detached factory.

d)	 Jointly and severally guaranteed by the Directors.

Currency exposure profile of bank overdraft denominated in currency other than the respective functional currency of the Group’s entities 

is as follows:-

			   Group

										          2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM

USD									         -	 175,875
	

19.	 TRADE PAYABLES 

Trade payables comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases. The normal credit terms granted by the trade payables ranging from 

30 to 120 days (2015: 30 to 120 days).

Currency exposure profile of trade payables denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currency of the Group’s 

entities is as follows:-

			   Group

										          2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM

		

USD									         34,376 	 109,657

SGD									         189,701 	 2,310,923

EURO Dollar (“EURO”)				    99,241	 30,677

Thai Baht (“THB”)					     139,153 	 62,236
	

Included in trade payables of the Group is an amount of RMNil (2015: RM255,330) due to a related party. The said amount is unsecured, 

bears no interest and repayable on demand.

Included in trade payables of the Group is an amount of RMNil (2015: RM1,565,165) due to a corporate shareholder. The said amount is 

unsecured, bears no interest and repayable on demand.

20.	 OTHER PAYABLES

			   Group	  Company 	

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Non-trade payables		  663,974	 535,283	 -	 59,357

Amount due to a related party		  323,215	 331,306	 -	 -

Accruals of expenses		  2,214,283	 3,111,363	 174,630	 150,000

GST/VAT payable			   184,124	 127,378	 -	 -
	

								        3,385,596	 4,105,330	 174,630	 209,357
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Amount due to a related party is unsecured, bears no interest and repayable on demand.

Currency exposure profile of other payables denominated in currency other than the respective functional currency of the Group’s entities 

is as follows:-

 

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

SGD									         7,081	 12,791
	

21.	 REVENUE

Revenue of the Group represents invoiced sales to customers for precision cleaning of plastic and metal components, clean bulk packing 

services, providing surface finishing services for metal parts and electrical and electronic industries and related services excluding goods 

and services tax and value-added tax.

Revenue of the Company consists of dividend income.

22.	 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
	

	 Profit/(Loss) before tax has been determined after charging/(crediting), amongst other items, the following:-

			   Group	  Company 	

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Auditors’ remuneration

- 	 Company’s auditors

	 - 	 statutory audit		  180,000	 178,000	 140,000	 140,000

   	 - 	 others					    14,000	 14,000	 14,000	 14,000

- 	 other external auditors		  52,619	 58,748	 -	 -

Amortisation of intangible assets		  700,731	 1,061,219	 -	 -

Bad debts written off		  198,593	 -	 -	 -

Bad debts recovered		  (138,794)	 -	 -	 -

Depreciation				    4,472,636	 3,435,033	 -	 -

Directors’emoluments		  865,313	 1,365,227	 -	 -

Directors’ fee				    274,000	 268,000	 274,000	 268,000

Excess of net fair value over acquisition cost 		  -	 (7,786,567)	 -	 -

Dividend income			   -	 -	 (2,200,000)	 (550,000)

Key management personnels’ remuneration		  1,408,330	 866,621	 -	 -

Property, plant and equipment written off		  -	 2,567	 -	 -

Rental expenses			   3,728,503	 4,450,246	 -	 -

Net unrealised gain on foreign exchange		  (310,672)	 (1,061,429)	 (249,996)	 (698,289)

Intangible assets written off		  989,046	 -	 -	 -

Interest expenses							     

-	 term loans				    27,688	 205,422	 -	 -

- 	 account receivable financing		  147,089	 -	 -	 -

- 	 finance lease			   2,932	 -	 -	 -

Impairment on doubtful receivables		  -	 -	 18,480	 4,629,382

Reversal of impairment loss on doubtful receivables		  -	 -	 (4,193,902)	 -

Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary		  -	 -	 4,168,276	 2,784,043

Net realised loss on foreign exchange		  143,532	 110,965	 20,542	 5,023

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		  (7,904)	 (446)	 -	 -

Interest income				   (42,769)	 (48,359)	 (10,743)	 (4,697)
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22.	 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (CONT’D)	

	 Profit/(Loss) before tax has been determined after charging/(crediting), amongst other items, the following :-(cont’d)

			   Group	  Company 	

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

		  Executive Directors of the Company:-

Salaries and other emoluments		  789,176	 1,293,393	 -	 -

Defined contribution plan		  76,137	 71,834	 -	 -

Fees							       48,000	 42,000	 48,000	 42,000
	

Total remuneration			  913,313	 1,407,227	 48,000	 42,000
	

Non-executive Directors of the Company:-

Fees							       226,000	 226,000	 226,000	 226,000
	

Key management personnel:-

Salaries and other emoluments		  1,331,086	 813,795	 -	 -

Defined contribution plan		  77,244	 52,826	 -	 -
	

Total remuneration			  1,408,330	 866,621	 -	 -
	

23.		 TAX EXPENSES/(INCOME)

			   Group	  Company 	

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Current year provision		  813,593	 20,204	 2,600	 328

Under provision in prior year		  22,405	 -	 25	 -

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 17)		  (59,747)	 (289,533)	 -	 -
	

								        776,251	 (269,329)	 2,625	 328
	

The numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the statutory tax rate are as follows:-

			   Group	  Company 	

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Profit/(Loss) before tax		  2,686,519	 3,788,060	 2,886,703	 (7,298,741)  
	

Tax at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2015: 25%)		  644,765	 947,015	 692,809	 (1,824,685)

Tax effects in respect of:-

Expenses not deductible for tax		  126,551	 471,337	 1,203,737	 2,137,085

Expenses allowable for double deduction		  (185,791)	 (22,361)	 -	 -

Income not subject to tax		  (503,845)	 (2,793,807)	 (1,893,946)	 (312,072)

Deferred tax assets not recognised		  225,543	 773,511	 -	 -

Under provision of current tax in prior year		  22,405	 -	 25	 -

Different tax rates of subsidiaries in overseas		  446,623	 354,976	 -	 -
	

Total tax expenses/(income)		  776,251	 (269,329)	 2,625	 328  
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23.		 TAX EXPENSES/(INCOME) (CONT’D)

(a)	 The Group’s unabsorbed tax losses and unutilised capital allowances which can be carried forward to offset against future taxable 

profit amounted to approximately RM12,520,000 (2015: RM6,187,000) and RM2,005,000 (2015: RM2,747,000) respectively.

(b)	 Tax expense for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. 

24.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Group

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit/(loss), net of tax, for the financial year attributable to ordinary equity holders 

of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Profit for the financial year attributable to owners used in the computation 

	 of basic earnings per share				    858,104	 3,577,735
	

												            2016	 2015

												            Units	 Units

	

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 1 January 			   178,778,000	 117,400,000

Effect of ordinary shares issued during the financial year				    -	     13,814,055
	

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 			   178,778,000	   131,214,055
	

Basic earnings per share (sen)				     0.48	 2.73
	

 

For the warrant-in-issue, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at market price (determined 

based on the average annual share price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the subscriptions rights attached to 

outstanding warrant-in-issue.  The calculation serves to determine the “unpurchased” shares to be added to the weighted average number 

of ordinary shares outstanding for the purposes of computing the diluted earnings per share.  

Diluted earnings per share is not presented as the effect is anti-dilutive.

25.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE	

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Salaries, wages and other emoluments				    22,943,650	 15,782,515

Defined contribution plan				    1,249,296	 913,506
	

Total staff costs					     24,192,946	 16,696,021
	

Included in staff costs of the Group is the Directors’ emoluments of RM865,313 (2015: RM1,365,227) as disclosed in Note 22 to the 

financial statements.
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26.	 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following temporary differences due to uncertainty of its recoverability:-

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Excess of tax written down value/(net carrying amount) over net carrying amount/

	 (tax written down value) of qualifying property, plant and equipment			   297,000	 (596,000)

Unutilised capital allowances				    2,005,000	 2,747,000

Unabsorbed tax losses				    12,520,000	 6,187,000

Others								        65,000	 52,000
	

										          14,887,000	 8,390,000
	

The unabsorbed tax losses and unutilised capital allowances are available for offset against future taxable profits of the subsidiary in which 

those items arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed tax losses as they 

may not be used to offset taxable profits of other subsidiary in the Group.

27.	 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments 

Capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements are as follows:-

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Authorised and contracted for:- 			 

Electronic equipment				    133,899	 135,670

Plant and machinery 				    -	 59,476
	

										          133,899	 195,146
	

Rental commitments

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Within one year						     2,361,413	 2,331,021

Between two to five years				    1,607,523	 3,881,501
	

										          3,968,936	 6,212,522
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28.	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

			   Group	  Company 	

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Unsecured:-

Bank guarantees given to Royal Malaysian 

	 Customs Department		  392,500	 392,500	 -	 -

Guarantees given to licensed bank for credit facilities

	 granted to subsidiary 		  -	 -	 3,133,730	 3,074,807
	

								        392,500	 392,500	 3,133,730	 3,074,807
	

Material litigation 

On 27 October 2016, Petronas Gas Berhad (“PGB”) commenced a civil suit against DWZ Group.

In the civil suit, PGB alleged that DWZ Group had without PGB’s knowledge and/or consent, entered or caused to enter into PGB’s land 

and had unlawfully and/or wrongly built and/or installed or caused to be built or installed an illegal by-pass on the PGB’s land which 

caused discharge of certain toxic and noxious industrial effluent onto PGB’s land. It is PGB’s pleaded case that the unlawful discharge of 

the industrial effluent onto their land caused damage to PGB’s pipeline, which was found ruptured due to severe external metal loss. PGB 

is claiming damages in the total principal sum of RM6,634,305.40 together with some other reliefs.

A defence was filed by DWZ Group through its appointed solicitor on 5 December 2016. An amended defence was filed on 15 December 

2016 to make some minor changes to provide more clarity to the defence.  The reply to amended defence was filed on 28 December 

2016.

PGB has also filed interlocutory injunction application and the hearing for the said injunction application is fixed on 26 March 2017. 

Subsequently, the Judge has re-fixed the hearing for the said injunction application on 8 May 2017.

 

At this stage of proceedings, the evidence is not conclusive that DWZ Group is liable in respect of all or any of the claims alleged by PGB 

and PGB itself will still have to prove the same in the court.

29.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

	 (i)	 Business segment

Management currently identifies the Group’s technical assembly services and surface treatment and precision cleaning as operating 

segments. These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating 

results. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:-

Surface treatment and precision cleaning 	 :	 Surface treatment, precision cleaning, clean bulk pack and related services mainly in 

the hdd & consumer electronics industries. 

		

Technical assembly services	 :	 Sale of modules relating to technical assembly services.

The Group has aggregated certain operating segments to form a reportable segment due to the similar nature and operational 

characteristics of the services.
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29.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

	 (i)	 Business segment (cont’d)

Transfer prices between operating segments are on negotiated basis.

  2016					    Surface 

						      treatment	 Technical

						      and precision 	 assembly

						      cleaning	 services	 Elimination	 Total

						      RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Revenue:-	 				  

External customers		  59,340,052	 -	 -	 59,340,052

Inter segment		  7,199,000	 -	 (7,199,000)	 -
	

Total  revenue		  66,539,052	 -	 (7,199,000)	 59,340,052
	

Results:-					   

Segment profit					     7,994,826

Interest income					     42,769

Interest expenses					     (177,709)

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets					    (5,173,367)

Tax expenses		  			   (776,251)
	

Profit after tax					     1,910,268
	

  2015					    Surface 
						      treatment	 Technical
						      and precision 	 assembly
						      cleaning	 services	 Elimination	 Total
						      RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	
Revenue:-	 				  
External customers		  39,756,287	 17,605,952	 -	 57,362,239
Inter segment		  5,850,291	 -	 (5,850,291)	 -

	

Total  revenue		  45,606,578	 17,605,952	 (5,850,291)	 57,362,239
	

Results:-					   
Segment profit					     654,808
Excess of net fair value over acquisition cost					     7,786,567
Interest income					     48,359
Interest expenses					     (205,422)
Depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets					    (4,496,252)
Tax income						      269,329
	

Profit after tax					     4,057,389
	

It was not practicable to separate out the segment assets and liabilities for its business segments as the assets and liabilities were 
jointly used by the business segments.
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29.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

	 (ii)	 Geographical information 

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets respectively are as 
follows:-

			   2016	 2015
											           Non-current		  Non-current
										          Revenue	 assets 	 Revenue 	 assets
										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	

Malaysia*			   9,446,037	 15,121,874	 5,479,364	 15,327,142
Singapore			   39,278,562	 2,131,954	 43,293,290	 3,892,026
People’s Republic of China		  9,541,810	 6,031,041	 7,789,622	 6,632,498
Others				    1,073,643	 -	 799,963	 -

	

						      59,340,052	 23,284,869	 57,362,239	 25,851,666
	

		  *      Company’s home country

Non-current assets information presented above consist of the following items as presented in the statement of financial position:-

												            2016	 2015
												            RM	 RM
	

Intangible assets				    -	 1,728,575
Property, plant and equipment				    23,284,869	 24,123,091

	

								        23,284,869	 25,851,666
	

	 (iii)	 Information about major customers	
	
The following are major customers with revenue equal or more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue:-

			   Segment	 Revenue		
												            2016	 2015
												            RM	 RM
	

- 	 Customer A	 Technical assembly services			   -	 17,605,952
- 	 Customer B	 Precision cleaning			   16,646,388	 14,672,483
- 	 Customer C	 Precision cleaning			   9,804,875	 -

	

								        26,451,263	 32,278,435
	

30.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

	 (a)	 The transactions of the Group and of the Company with the related parties are as follows:-

												            2016	 2015
				      Group						      RM	 RM
	

Sales to a related party				    -	 17,605,952
Sales to a corporate shareholder				    9,804,875	 3,107,549
Subcontract fee charged by a corporate shareholder			   1,244,435	 527,704
	

												            2016	 2015
				      Company					     RM	 RM
	

Dividend income from a subsidiary 				    2,200,000	 550,000
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30.	 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (cont’d)

(b)	 The remuneration of Directors and other key management personnel are disclosed in Notes 22 and 25 to the financial statements. 

Other key management personnel comprise persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 

activities of the Group and of the Company either directly or indirectly.

(c)	 Outstanding balances arising from related party transactions are disclosed in Notes 8, 9, 10, 19 and 20 to the financial 

statements.

31. 	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Board of Directors meet periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk, 

interest rate risk and currency risk. Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management. 

At reporting date, the Group’s financial instruments mainly consist of cash and cash equivalents, borrowings, receivables and payables.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations, if any, in interest 

rates and foreign exchange except as stated below.

 (a)	 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations.

It is the Group’s policy to enter into transactions with diverse credit worthy counterparties.

The Group and the Company are exposed to credit risk primarily from trade and other receivables, intercompany balances and cash 

and bank balances with financial institutions.

The Group has concentration of credit risk and are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.

Cash is held with financial institutions of good standing.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial 

instruments presented on the statements of financial position.

The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries. The 

maximum exposure to credit risk is as disclosed in Note 28 as at the reporting date. The Company monitors on an ongoing basis the 

results of the subsidiaries and repayments made by the subsidiaries.  As at the end of the reporting period, there was no indication 

that the subsidiaries would default on repayment.

(b)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated 

with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

The Group and the Company manage their liquidity risk by ensuring the availability of adequate funds to meet all their obligations 

in a timely and cost-effective manner.
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31. 	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (cont’d)

(b)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities:-

										          Less than	 Between 2 	 More than

										          1year	 to 5 years	 5 year 	 Total

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

				    2016	

				    Group	

	

Trade payables		  4,903,570	 -	 -	 4,903,570

Other payables		  3,201,472	 -	 -	 3,201,472

Borrowings			   2,189,613	 77,941	 -	 2,267,554
	

Total undiscounted financial liabilities		  10,294,655	 77,941	 -	 10,372,596
	

Financial guarantee*		  392,500	 -	 -	 392,500
	

Company

Other payables		  174,630	 -	 -	 174,630
	

Total undiscounted financial liabilities		  174,630	 -	 -	 174,630
	

Financial guarantee*		  3,133,730	 -	 -	 3,133,730
	

				    2015	

				    Group	

	

Trade payables		  14,232,348	 -	 -	 14,232,348

Other payables		  3,977,952	 -	 -	 3,977,952

Borrowings			   3,679,376	 727,440	 193,386	 4,600,202
	

Total undiscounted financial liabilities		  21,889,676	 727,440	 193,386	 22,810,502
	

Financial guarantee*		  392,500	 -	 -	 392,500
	

Company

					   

Other payables		  209,357	 -	 -	 209,357

Amount due to a subsidiary		  1,728,100	 -	 -	 1,728,100
	

Total undiscounted financial liabilities		  1,937,457	 -	 -	 1,937,457
	

Financial guarantee*		  3,074,807	 -	 -	 3,074,807
	

*	 The exposure liquidity risk is included for illustration purpose only as the related financial guarantee has not crystallised  as at 

the end of the reporting year.

The above amounts reflect the contractual undiscounted cash flows, which may differ from the carrying values of the liabilities at 

the reporting date.
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31.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(c)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is caused by changes in market interest rate resulting in fluctuation in fair value or future cash flow of financial 

instrument of the Group. The Group’s interest rate management objective is to manage interest expenses consistent with maintaining 

an acceptable level of exposure to interest rate fluctuation.

The Group’s borrowings at variable rates are exposed to the risk of change in cash flow due to changes in interest rate.

Interest rate sensitive analysis

As at financial year end, the Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates through bank borrowings at variable interest 

rates. Other borrowings are at fixed interest rates. The exposure to interest rates for the Group’s money market funds is considered 

immaterial.

				    Group

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Fixed rate instruments			 

Financial asset		

Deposits with licensed banks				    485,802	 2,109,586
	

Net financial asset				    485,802	 2,109,586
	

Floating rate instruments			 

Financial liability			 

Borrowings					     (2,255,410)	 (4,449,173)
	

Net financial liability				    (2,255,410)	 (4,449,173)
	

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of profit/(loss) to a reasonably possible change in interest rates of +/-25 (2015: +/-25) 

basis point (“bp”). These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. The 

calculations are based on a change in the average market interest rate for each period, and the financial instruments held at each 

reporting date that are sensitive to changes in interest rates.  All other variables are held constant.

												            2016	 2015

												            RM	 RM

	

Effect on profit/(loss) for the year	

+ 25bp						      5,639	 11,123

-  25bp						      (5,639)	 (11,123)
	

	 (d) 	 Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Currency risk 

arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group operates and sells its products/services in Malaysia, Singapore and People’s Republic of China and transacts in foreign 

currencies mainly USD, RMB, THB, EURO and SGD. As a result, the Group is exposed to movements in foreign currency exchange 

rates. 

The Group monitors its currency risk closely and where appropriate, enters into currency forward contracts to manage currency 

exposure.

The Group does not hedge its currency risk of its investments in overseas subsidiaries. Such investments are long term in nature 

and therefore not feasible and economical to hedge.
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31.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d) 	 Currency risk (cont’d)

The Group’s currency exposure based on information provided is as follows:-

	       					     2016

					     USD	 THB	 SGD	 EURO	 RMB

					     RM	 RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

Financial  assets

	 Cash and bank balances	 1,209,533	 -	 9,925	 -	 -

	 Trade receivables	 3,861,987	 -	 176,606	 -	 -

	 Other receivables	 -	 -	 -	 -	 121,821
	

					     5,071,520	 -	 186,531	 -	 121,821
	

Financial liabilities					   

	 Trade payables	 (34,376)	 (139,153)	 (189,701)	 (99,241)	 -

	 Other payables	 -	 -	 (7,081)	 -	 -
	

					     (34,376)	 (139,153)	 (196,782)	 (99,241)	 -
	

Net currency exposure	 5,037,144	 (139,153)	 (10,251)	 (99,241)	 121,821
	

	       					     2015

						      USD	 THB	 SGD	 EURO

						      RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

Financial  assets			 

 	 Cash and bank balances		  3,716,111	 -	 -	 -

 	 Trade receivables		  2,527,991	 -	 6,947,959	 -
	

						      6,244,102	 -	 6,947,959	 -
	

Financial  liabilities					   

	 Borrowings		  (175,875)	 -	 -	 -

	 Trade payables		  (109,657)	 (62,236)	 (2,310,923)	 (30,677)

	 Other payables		  -	 -	 (12,791)	 -
	

						      (285,532)	 (62,236)	 (2,323,714)	 (30,677)
	

Net currency exposure		  5,958,570	 (62,236)	 4,624,245	 (30,677)
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31.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d) 	 Currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

		  Group

A change in the functional currency of respective subsidiaries against the foreign currency at the reporting date would have either 
increased or decreased the Group’s profit/(loss) after tax by:- 

			   2016	 2015
										          Profit		  Profit	
										          after tax	 Equity	 after tax	 Equity
										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	

USD	 - strengthened 1% (2015: 2%)		  50,000	 50,000	 119,000	 119,000
	

		  - weakened 1% (2015: 2%)		  (50,000)	 (50,000)	 (119,000)	 (119,000)
	

THB 	 - strengthened 1% (2015: 1%)		  (1,000)	 (1,000)	 (1,000)	 (1,000)
	

		  - weakened 1% (2015: 1%)		  1,000	 1,000	 1,000	 1,000
	

SGD	 - strengthened 1% (2015: 1%)		  (100)	 (100) 	 46,000	 46,000
	

		  - weakened 1% (2015: 1%)		  100 	 100 	 (46,000)	 (46,000)
	

EURO	 - strengthened 1% (2015: 1%)		  (1,000) 	 (1,000) 	 (300)	 (300)
	

		  - weakened 1% (2015: 1%)		  1,000 	 1,000 	 300	 300
	

RMB 	 - strengthened 1% (2015: Nil)		  1,000	 1,000	 -	 -
	

          	 - weakened 1% (2015: Nil)		  (1,000)	 (1,000)	 -	 -
	

		  Company

The Company’s currency exposure based on information provided is as follows:-

			   2016	 2015
										          USD	 SGD	 USD	 SGD
										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	
				    Financial asset/ (liability)	

Amount due from/(to) subsidiaries		  4,371,868	 -	 -	 (1,728,100)
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31.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(d) 	 Currency risk (cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis (cont’d)

		  Company (cont’d)

The changes in RM against the USD and SGD at the reporting date would have either increased or decreased the Company’s profit/
(loss) after tax by:-

			   2016	 2015
										          Profit		  Loss	
										          after tax	 Equity	 after tax	 Equity
										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
	

USD 	 - strengthened 1% (2015: 2%)		  44,000	 44,000	 -	 -
	

		  - weakened 1% (2015: 2%)		  (44,000)	 (44,000)	 -	 -
	

SGD 	 - strengthened Nil (2015: 1%)		  -	 -	 (17,000)	 (17,000)
	

		  - weakened Nil (2015: 1%)	  	 -	 -	 17,000	 17,000
	

32.	 FAIR VALUES MEASUREMENT

		

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group as at the reporting date approximate their fair values due to 

their short-term nature or they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the reporting date.

Fair value hierarchy

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company have no financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 

recognition at fair value and hence fair value hierarchy is not presented.

33.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s and the Company’s objective when managing capital are:-

(a)	 to safeguard the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern;

(b)	 to support the Group’s and the Company’s stability and growth; and

(c)	 to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s and the Company’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholders’ returns, 

taking into consideration the future capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected 

operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment opportunities. The Group currently does not 

adopt any formal dividend policy.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity as presented in the statement of financial position. 

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the financial year. The Group is not subject to externally 

imposed capital requirement.
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34.	 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS 

Significant event during the financial year

On 11 July 2016, MAC has entered into a share sale agreement with MClean Singapore to carry out an internal group restructuring. Upon 

completion, Mclean Wuxi has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of MClean Singapore from MAC.

Significant event after the financial year end

The Companies Act, 2016 (New Act) was enacted to replace the Companies Act, 1965 and was passed by Parliament on 4 April 2016. 

The New Act was subsequently gazetted on 15 September 2016. On 26 January 2017, the Minister of Domestic Trade, Co-operatives 

and Consumerism announced that the effective date of New Act, except for section 241 and Division 8 of Part III of the New Act, to be 31 

January 2017.

The adoption of the New Act is not expected to have any financial impact on the Group and on the Company for the financial year ended 

31 December 2016 as any accounting implications will only be applied prospectively, if applicable, and the effect of adoption mainly will 

be on the disclosures to the annual report and financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 31 

December 2017.

35.	 DISCLOSURE OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS/(LOSSES)

With the purpose of improving transparency, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad has on 25 March 2010 and subsequently on 20 December 

2010, issued directives which require all listed corporations to disclose the breakdown of retained earnings or accumulated losses into 

realised and unrealised on group and company basis in the annual audited financial statements.

The breakdown of retained earnings or accumulated losses as at the reporting date prepared by the Directors in accordance with the 

directives from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad stated above and the Guidance on Special Matter No.1 – Determination of Realised and 

Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued 

by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants are as follows:-

			   Group	 Company

										          2016	 2015	 2016	 2015

										          RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

	

Total retained earnings/ (accumulated losses) of the 

	 Company and its subsidiary: 	

	 - 	 Realised				    (2,883,806)	 (8,373,795)	 (20,279,968)	 (29,012,739)

	 -	 Unrealised			   (424,142)	 266,868	 249,996	 698,289
	

								        (3,307,948)	 (8,106,927)	 (20,029,972)	 (28,314,450)

Consolidation Adjustments		  11,444,901	 9,985,376	 -	 -
	

								        8,136,953	 1,878,449	 (20,029,972)	 (28,314,450)
	

The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses above is solely for complying with the disclosures requirements stipulated in the 

directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be applied for any other purposes.
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LIST OF PROPERTIES

Registered

owner Location

Description/

Existing use

Date of 

certificate of 

fitness/

Year of

Acquisition

Approximate

age of building

years/Tenure

Land/area

built-up area

sq.ft.

Audited net 

book value 

as at

31-Dec-16

RM ‘000

DWZ Industries 

Sdn. Bhd.

No 12, Jalan Maju 1, 

Taman Perindustrian 

Desa Cemerlang, 

81800 Ulu Tiram, 

Johor Bahru, 

Malaysia

1 1/2 Storey 

Semi-Detached 

Factory (Freehold)   

[Business activities 

- Electroplating and 

surface treatment]

30 Jan 1999 /

9 Nov 2009

18  14,402.10  2,055 

DWZ Industries 

Sdn. Bhd.

No 30, Jalan Maju 1, 

Taman Perindustrian 

Desa Cemerlang, 

81800 Ulu Tiram, 

Johor Bahru, 

Malaysia

1 1/2 Storey 

Semi-Detached 

Factory (Freehold)         

[Business activities 

- Electroplating and 

surface treatment]

17 Jan 2006 /

21 Feb 2006

11  12,604.53  1,863 

DWZ Industries 

Sdn. Bhd.

No 20, Jalan Maju 5, 

Taman Perindustrian 

Desa Cemerlang, 

81800 Ulu Tiram, 

Johor Bahru, 

Malaysia

1 1/2 Storey 

Semi-Detached 

Factory (Freehold)        

[Business activities 

- Spray painting]

30 Jan 1999 /

26 Sep 2007 

18  9,601.40  1,419 

DWZ Industries 

Sdn. Bhd.

No 22, Jalan Maju 5, 

Taman Perindustrian 

Desa Cemerlang, 

81800 Ulu Tiram, 

Johor Bahru, 

Malaysia

1 1/2 Storey 

Semi-Detached 

Factory (Freehold)           

[Business activities 

- Inspection, 

packing & storage]

30 Jan 1999 /

9 May 2011

18  9,601.40  1,400 

DWZ Industries 

Sdn. Bhd.

No 25, Jalan Maju 5, 

Taman Perindustrian 

Desa Cemerlang, 

81800 Ulu Tiram, 

Johor Bahru, 

Malaysia

1 1/2 Storey 

Semi-Detached 

Factory (Freehold)          

[Business activities 

- Electroplating and 

surface treatment]

30 Jan 1999 /

31 Mar 1998 

18  10,505.57  1,615 

DWZ Industries 

Sdn. Bhd.

No 27, Jalan Maju 5, 

Taman Perindustrian 

Desa Cemerlang, 

81800 Ulu Tiram, 

Johor Bahru, 

Malaysia

1 1/2 Storey 

Semi-Detached 

Factory (Freehold)         

[Business activities 

- Electroplating and 

surface treatment]

30 Jan 1999 /

31 Mar 1998

18  8,998.62  1,388 

DWZ Industries 

Sdn. Bhd.

No 30, Jalan Maju 5, 

Taman Perindustrian 

Desa Cemerlang, 

81800 Ulu Tiram, 

Johor Bahru, 

Malaysia

1 1/2 Storey 

Semi-Detached 

Factory (Freehold)         

[Business activities 

- Inspection, 

packing & storage]

30 Jan 1999 /

30 Jun 2011

18  10,796.20  1,577 
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AND WARRANT HOLDINGS
as at 24 March 2017
Issued and fully paid-up capital 	 : 	 RM44,694,500.00 comprising 178,778,000 ordinary shares 

Class of shares 	 : 	 Ordinary shares 

Voting rights 	 : 	 One (1) vote per ordinary share

Number of shareholders 	 : 	 805

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 

  Holdings			   No. of holders	 Total holdings	 Percentage (%)

1 – 99 			   3	 97	 0.00

100 – 1,000			   111	 85,200	 0.05

1,001 – 10,000		  357	 1,940,100	 1.09

10,001 – 100,000		  273	 10,085,900	 5.64

100,001 – less than 5% of issued shares		  57	 42,808,561	 23.95

5% of issued shares and above 		  4	 123,858,142	 69.28

TOTAL			   805	 178,778,000	 100.00

LIST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(Based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

(Holding 5% or more of the share capital)

  Shareholders	 Direct	 Indirect

			   No. of shares 	 %	 No. of shares 	 %

Decor Industries Pte. Ltd.	 56,378,000	 31.54	 -	 -
JCS Group Pte. Ltd.	 38,747,942	 21.67	 -	 -
Yeo Hock Huat	 26,117,000	 14.61	    39,748,004 [1]	 22.23
Lim Han Kiau	 80,000	 0.04	   56,845,000 [2]	 31.80
Kam Kian Poh	 -	 -	 56,378,000 [3]	 31.54
DGC Holdings Pte Ltd	 -	 -	 56,378,000 [4]	 31.54

Notes:
1	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of his siblings, Yeo Seow Lai and Yeo Lian Cheng, and his shareholdings in JCS Group 

Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.
2	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of his son, Lim Min Han, his sibling, Lim Choon Geok and his shareholdings in Decor 

Industries Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.
3	 Deemed interested by virtue of his shareholding in DGC Holdings Pte. Ltd., a holding company of Decor Industries Pte. Ltd. pursuant to 

Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.
4	 Deemed interest by virtue of its shareholding in Decor Industries Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS  

(Based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

  Directors		  Direct	 Indirect

			   No. of shares	 %	 No. of shares	 %

Yeo Hock Huat	 26,117,000	 14.61	   39,748,004 [1]	 22.23
Lim Han Kiau	 80,000	 0.04	   56,845,000 [2]	 31.80
Dr Ho Choon Hou	 -	 -	 -	 -
Pang Kong Chek	 -	 -	 -	 -
Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng	 -	 -	 -	 -
Yeo Seow Lai	 600,062	 0.34	 26,517,000 [3]	 14.83

Notes:
1	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of his siblings, Yeo Seow Lai  and Yeo Lian Cheng, and his shareholdings in JCS Group 

Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.
2	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of his son, Lim Min Han, his sibling, Lim Choon Geok and his shareholdings in Decor 

Industries Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.
3	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of her siblings, Yeo Hock Huat and Yeo Lian Cheng pursuant to Section 8 of the 

Companies Act, 2016.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AND WARRANT HOLDINGS (cont’d)
as at 24 March 2017
LIST OF 30 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS REGISTERED 

(Based on Record of Depositories)

 Name		  No. of shares held	 Percentage (%)

1.	 JCS Group Pte. Ltd.			   38,747,942	 21.67

2.	 UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.	
	 Exempt AN for UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd. (A/C Clients)			   30,804,200	 17.23

3.	 Tasec Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 TMF Trustees Malaysia Berhad for Decor Industries Pte. Ltd.			   28,189,000	 15.77

4.	 Yeo Hock Huat 			   26,117,000	 14.61

5.	 Chow Kok Meng, Bert 			   8,919,999	 4.99

6.	 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Exempt AN for Citibank N.A Singapore (Barclays Bk)			   5,627,200	 3.15

7.	 Mah Wai Loen			   4,931,800	 2.76

8.	 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Exempt AN for Credit Suisse  (SG BR-TST-Asing)			   4,854,100	 2.72

9.	 Mah Wai Loen			   3,536,000	 1.98

10.	 HLB Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Pledged Securities Account for Koh Soe Khon (SIN 9119-9)			   1,000,000	 0.56

11.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Pledged Securities Account for Ang Eng Tiong			   818,200	 0.46

12.	 Kang Leen Leen			   810,000	 0.45

13.	 Lai Thiam Poh			   650,000	 0.36

14.	 Yeo Seow Lai			   600,062	 0.34

15.	 Loh Weng Yew			   550,000	 0.31

16.	 Chiam Kia Chee			   457,300	 0.26

17.	 Lim Choon Geok			   407,000	 0.23

18.	 Yeo Lian Cheng			   400,000	 0.22

19.	 Ambank (M) Berhad 
	 Pledged Securities Account for Wong Ah Yong (SMART)			   380,000	 0.21

20.	 Teo Chin Siong 			   378,000	 0.21

21.	 CIMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 CIMB Bank for Wong Ah Yong (MY1278)			   330,000	 0.18

22.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Ang Eng Tiong			   326,000	 0.18

23.	 Cheng Su Peng 			   320,500	 0.18

24.	 HRH Sultan Hj Abdul Halim Muadzam Shah 			   302,000	 0.17

25.	 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Tan Chiang Chong (8120566)			   300,000	 0.17

26.	 Chen XuJun			   300,000	 0.17

27.	 Yau Teck Kong 			   300,000	 0.17

28.	 Ooi Siew Chai			   297,000	 0.17

29.	 Kho Siak Chung 			   261,000	 0.15

30.	 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Exempt AN for OCBC Securities Private Limited (Client A/C-NR)			   260,000	 0.15

	 TOTAL			   161,174,303	 90.15
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AND WARRANT HOLDINGS (cont’d)
as at 24 March 2017
 WARRANTS 2015/2020

Original warrants issued  	 : 	 28,175,996  

Exercise price per warrant	 : 	 RM0.25 

Exercise period	 : 	 5 years (expiring on 7 October 2020)

Voting rights 	 : 	 None 

Number of warrants holders	 : 	 746

ANALYSIS OF WARRANT HOLDING

 Holdings			   No. of holders	 Total holdings	 Percentage (%)
	

1 – 99 			   51	 2,576	 0.01

100 – 1,000			   257	 120,377	 0.52

1,001 – 10,000		  298	 1,066,088	 4.60

10,001 – 100,000		  114	 3,886,544	 16.77

100,001 – less than 5% of issued warrants 		  24	 7,450,377	 32.15

5% of issued warrants and above 		  2	 10,650,034	 45.95

TOTAL			   746	 23,175,996	 100.00

DIRECTORS’ WARRANT HOLDINGS 

			   Direct Interest  	 Deemed Interest 

 Directors		  No. of warrants	 %	 No. of warrants	 %

Yeo Hock Huat	 68,080	 0.29	 9,539,520 [1]	 41.16

Lim Han Kiau	 19,200	 0.08	 112,080 [2]  	 0.48

Dr Ho Choon Hou	 -	 -	 -	 -

Pang Kong Chek	 -	 -	 -	 -

Dato’ Mark William Ling Lee Meng	 -	 -	 -	 -

Yeo Seow Lai	 144,014	 0.62	 164,080 [3]	 0.71

Notes:
1	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of his siblings, Yeo Seow Lai  and Yeo Lian Cheng, and his shareholdings in JCS Group 

Pte. Ltd. pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2016.
2	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of his son, Lim Min Han and his sibling, Lim Choon Geok pursuant to Section 8 of the 

Companies Act, 2016.
3	 Deemed interested by virtue of the shareholdings of her siblings, Yeo Hock Huat and Yeo Lian Cheng pursuant to Section 8 of the 

Companies Act, 2016.

LIST OF 30 LARGEST WARRANT HOLDERS 

 Name		  No. of warrants held	 Percentage (%)

1.	 JCS Group Pte. Ltd.	 9,299,506	 40.13

2.	 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Exempt AN for Citibank N.A. Singapore (Barclays BK) 	 1,350,528	 5.83

3.	 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Exempt AN for Credit Suisse (SG BR-TST-Asing) 	 1,116,984	 4.82

4.	 Chow Kok Meng, Bert	 1,040,799	 4.49

5.	 Lai Thiam Poh	 1,010,124	 4.36

6.	 Mah Wai Loen 	 724,992	 3.13

7.	 Mah Wai Leon 	 477,000	 2.06

8.	 Lee Chee Keong 	 258,700	 1.12

9.	 Lee Soo Har 	 250,000	 1.08
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AND WARRANT HOLDINGS (cont’d)
as at 24 March 2017
LIST OF 30 LARGEST WARRANT HOLDERS (cont’d)

 Name		  No. of warrants held	 Percentage (%)

10.	 HLB Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Koh Soe Khon (SIN 9119-9)	 240,000	 1.04

11.	 Khor Chin Thye 	 200,000	 0.86

12.	 Lee Lian Te	 200,000	 0.86

13.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Ang Eng Tiong 	 196,368	 0.85

14.	 Kang Leen Leen 	 194,400	 0.84

15.	 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Pledged Securities Account for Tew Kam Hock 	 150,000	 0.65

16.	 Ooi Jew Sang @ Eng Joo Siang 	 149,000	 0.64

17.	 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Tan Lian Hong (8092237)	 145,300	 0.63

18.	 Yeo Seow Lai 	 144,014	 0.62

19.	 Lim Poh Fong 	 140,400	 0.61

20.	 Loh Weng Yew 	 132,000	 0.57

21.	 Lee Eng Min 	 129,800	 0.56

22.	 Chia Yoke Lian 	 120,000	 0.52

23.	 UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Exempt AN for UOB Kay Hian Pte. Ltd. (A/C Clients) 	 117,248	 0.51

24.	 Chiam Kia Chee	 109,752	 0.47

25.	 Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Pledged Securities Account for Tan Kian Hong (8098699)	 103,476	 0.45

26.	 Teoh Kim Guan 	 100,020	 0.43

27.	 HLIB Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Pledged Securities Account for Boon Kim Yu (CCTS)	 100,000	 0.43

28.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Low Bok Kiow 	 100,000	 0.43

29.	 Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd.
	 Low Poh Oh 	 100,000	 0.43

30.	 Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn. Bhd. 
	 Pledged Securities Account for Ong Tee Paan (011)	 98,700	 0.43

	 Total		  18,499,111	 79.85
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Seventh Annual General Meeting (“Seventh AGM”) of MClean Technologies Berhad (“the Company” or 
“MClean”) will be held at Tawau Room, Auditorium & Convention Center @ The Podium, Ground Floor, Menara Hap Seng, No. 1 & 3, Jalan P. 
Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur on Tuesday, 20 June 2017 at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:-

AGENDA

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 together with the 
Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

2.	 To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 70 of the Company’s Constitution and being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-election:- 

	 a.	 Dr Ho Choon Hou; and

	 b.	 Pang Kong Chek; 

3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees amounting to RM274,000.00 for the financial year ending  
31 December 2017.

4.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ remuneration (excluding Directors’ Fees) payable to the Board of the 
Company and its subsidiaries amounting to RM2,138,626.00 for the period from 1 January 2017 until the next 
Annual General Meeting.

5.	 To re-appoint Messrs SJ Grant Thornton as Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the Directors to fix 
their remuneration.

As Special Business

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution as Ordinary Resolution with or without modifications:
	
6.	 Authority to Issue Shares 

“THAT subject always to the Companies Act 2016, Constitution of the Company and approvals from Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and any other governmental/regulatory bodies, where such approval is necessary, 
authority be and is hereby given to the Directors pursuant to Section 76 of the Companies Act, 2016 to issue 
not more than ten percent (10%) of the issued capital of the Company at any time upon any such terms and 
conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit or in pursuance 
of offers, agreements or options to be made or granted by the Directors while this approval is in force until 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company and that the Directors be and are hereby 
further authorised to make or grant offers, agreements or options which would or might require shares to be 
issued after the expiration of the approval hereof.”

7.	 To transact any other ordinary business of which due Notice has been given.

	
By Order of the Board

NG SALLY (MAICSA 7060343) 
TEO MEE HUI (MAICSA 7050642)
Company Secretaries
Kuala Lumpur 
27 April 2017

NOTES:

1.	 A member may appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the meeting. If a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the 
appointments shall be invalid unless he / she specifies the proportions of his / her shareholding to be represented by each proxy. A proxy 
may but need not be a member of the Company. If the proxy is not a member, the proxy need not be an advocate, an approved company 
auditor or a person approved by the Registrar of Companies. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.

2.	 Every member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote for him / her but his / her 
attendance will automatically revoke the proxy’s authority. However, where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as 
defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint at least one proxy in respect of each securities 
account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

3.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial 
owners in one securities account (“Omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee 
may appoint in respect of each Omnibus account it holds.  

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing (in common or usual form) under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly 
authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under the corporation’s seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly 
authorised.

	 (Please refer to  
Explanatory Note)

(Ordinary Resolution 1)

(Ordinary Resolution 2)

(Ordinary Resolution 3)

(Ordinary Resolution 4)
 

(Ordinary Resolution 5)

(Ordinary Resolution 6)
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5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Symphony Share Registrar Sdn. 
Bhd. at Level 6, Symphony House, Block D13, Pusat Dagangan Dana 1, Jalan PJU 1A/46, 47301 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan at 
least forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

6.	 The Date of Record of Depositors for the purpose of determining members’ entitlement to attend, vote and speak at the meeting is 14 June 
2017.

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

1.	 Item 1 of the Agenda 

	 The Audited Financial Statements under this agenda item is meant for discussion only as the provision of Section 248(1) and Section 
340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 (the “Act”) does not require a formal approval of the shareholders and hence this Agenda item is not 
put forward for voting.

2.	 Item 3 & 4 of the Agenda – Ordinary Resolutions 3 and 4

	 Section 230(1) of the Act provides amongst others, that “the fees” of the directors and “any benefits” payable to the directors of a listed 
company and its subsidiaries shall be approved at a general meeting. In this respect, the Board agreed that the shareholders’ approval 
shall be sought at the Seventh AGM on the Directors’ remuneration in two (2) separate resolutions as below:-

•	 Resolution 3 on payment of Directors’ fees in respect of the current year 2017; and  
•	 Resolution 4 on payment of Directors’ remuneration (excluding Directors’ fees) in respect of the current year 2017 and until the next 

Annual General Meeting (“Relevant Period”)

The payment of the Directors’ Fees in respect of the financial period ending 31 December 2017 will only be made if the proposed 
Resolution 3 has been passed at the Seventh AGM pursuant to Section 50 of the Company’s Constitution and Section 230(1) of the Act.

The Directors’ remuneration (excluding Directors’ Fees) comprises the allowances and other emoluments payable to the Board of the 
Company and its subsidiaries as follows:- 

  			   *Total (RM)

Executive Directors	 2,130,626
Independent Non-Executive Directors	 6,000
Non-Independent Non-Executive Directors	 2,000

Total 		 2,138,626

	 NOTES:

*	 Inclusive of meeting fees, EPF contribution and benefit-in-kind.

	 The estimated total amount of remuneration (excluding Directors’ Fees) for the Relevant Period of RM2,138,626.00 were determined 
based on the various factors including the number of scheduled meetings for the Board and Board Committees as well as the extend of 
involvement of the respective Directors. It is also subject to the changes in the regulatory requirements (if any) and foreign exchange rates 
fluctuation (for overseas salaries) from time to time.

	 Payment of Directors’ Remuneration (excluding Directors’ Fees) will be made by the Company and its subsidiaries on a monthly basis 
and/or as and when incurred if the proposed Resolution 4 has been passed at the Seventh AGM. The Board is of the view that it is just 
and equitable for the Directors to be paid the Directors’ remuneration (excluding Directors’ Fees) on a monthly basis and/or as and when 
incurred, particularly after they have discharged their responsibilities and rendered their services to the Company and its subsidiaries 
throughout the financial period from 1 January 2017 until the next Annual General Meeting. 

3.	 Item 6 of the Agenda - Ordinary Resolution 6

	 Authority to Issue Shares 

	 The Proposed Ordinary Resolution 6 is proposed for the purpose of granting a renewed general mandate (“General Mandate”) and 
empowering the Directors of the Company, pursuant to Section 76 of the Act to allot and issue up to a maximum of 10% of the issued and 
paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being (other than bonus or rights issue) for such purposes as they consider would be in 
the best interest of the Company. The General Mandate, unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting, will expire at the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

	 The renewal of the General Mandate is to provide flexibility to the Company to issue new shares without the need to convene a general 
meeting(s) to obtain shareholders’ approval as to avoid incurring additional cost and time. The proceeds raised from the General Mandate 
will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but not limited to further placement of shares, for 
purposes of funding current and/or future investment project(s), working capital, repayment of borrowings and/or acquisition. 

	 No shares has been issued and allotted by the Company since obtaining the said authority from its shareholders at the last Annual General 
Meeting held on 23 June 2016.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (cont’d)



PROXY FORM

MClean Technologies Berhad (893631-T)
	 (Incorporated in Malaysia)

Number of Shares Held

CDS Account No

* I/We ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 
of ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 
being a Member(s) of MCLEAN TECHNOLOGIES BERHAD (893631-T), hereby appoint ..................................................................................... 
NRIC No./ Passport No./Company No.: ....................................................... of ......................................................................................................... 
..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 
or failing him/her ......................................................................................................................................................................................................... 
NRIC No./ Passport No./Company No.:………………………………..…….… of ………………………………………………………………....………….. 
.......................................................................................................................................................................................... 
or failing him/her, *the Chairman of the meeting as *my/our proxy to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the Seventh Annual General Meeting of 
the Company to be held at Tawau Room, Auditorium & Convention Center @ The Podium, Ground Floor, Menara Hap Seng, No. 1 & 3, Jalan P. 
Ramlee, 50250 Kuala Lumpur on Tuesday, 20 June 2017 at 10.00 a.m. or at any adjournment thereof and to vote as indicated below:

Ordinary Resolutions For Against

1 To re-elect Dr Ho Choon Hou as Director

2 To re-elect Mr Pang Kong Chek as Director

3 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year ending 31 December 2017

4 To approve the payment of Directors’ Remuneration (excluding Directors’ Fees) payable to the 
Board of the Company and its subsidiaries amounting to RM 2,138,626.00 for financial period from  
1 January 2017 until the next Annual General Meeting

5 To re-appoint Messrs SJ Grant Thornton as Auditors and authorise Director to fix their remuneration

6 To approve Proposed Authority to Issue Shares

Please indicate with an “x” in the space provided above on how you wish your vote to be cast on the resolutions specified in the notice of the 
meeting. If you do not do so, the proxy/proxies will vote, or abstain from voting as he/they may think fit. 

The proportions of my/our shareholding to be represented by the proxies appointed by the authorized nominee (if appoint more than 1 proxy) 
are as follows:-

First Proxy		  %
Second Proxy	 %
			   100%

*Delete if not applicable.

Dated this....…...... day of ….….…................ 2017		  ………….…….……….………............………...
				    Signature of Member/Common Seal 

Notes:

1.	 A member may appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the meeting. If a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointments 
shall be invalid unless he / she specifies the proportions of his/ her shareholding to be represented by each proxy. A proxy may but need not be a 
member of the Company. If the proxy is not a member, the proxy need not be an advocate, an approved company auditor or a person approved 
by the Registrar of Companies. There shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy.

2.	 Every member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote for him / her but his / her attendance will 
automatically revoke the proxy’s authority. However, where a member of the Company is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities 
Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, it may appoint at least one proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the 
Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

3.	 Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in 
one securities account (“Omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect 
of each Omnibus account it holds.  

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing (in common or usual form) under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in 
writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under the corporation’s seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

5.	 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Symphony Share Registrar Sdn. Bhd. at Level 
6, Symphony House, Block D13, Pusat Dagangan Dana 1, Jalan PJU 1A/46, 47301 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan at least forty-eight (48) 
hours before the time for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

6.	 The Date of Record of Depositors for the purpose of determining members’ entitlement to attend, vote and speak at the meeting is 14 June 2017.



1st fold here

Then fold here

The Share Registrar
MCLEAN TECHNOLOGIES BERHAD
Symphony Share Registrar Sdn Bhd 

Level 6, Symphony House
Pusat Dagangan Dana 1

 Jalan PJU 1A/46
47301 Petaling Jaya

Selangor Darul Ehsan

AFFIX
STAMP
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